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FOREWORD 
 

Corporate Analysis reg. assoc. (formerly the Committee for Corporate Analysis 
reg. assoc.) first published its guide to analysing financial statements in 1974. The 
guidelines have been continually updated to reflect changes in legislation. The 
current edition is primarily based on the amendments to the Accounting Act, 
Limited Liability Companies Act, Co-operatives Act, and Auditing Act which 
became effective in 2016 and the Accounting Ordinance adopted during that year. 
This version of the guide is an update of the one completed in 2011. 

 
Corporate Analysis’ Guide to Analysing Financial Statements is primarily aimed at 
professionals working in corporate finance roles. It is a manual made up of 
recommended approaches to analysing financial statements jointly agreed by the 
experts at Corporate Analysis. Several other bodies involved with analysis of 
financial statements have also adopted these guidelines as standards. The book can 
be used as support material for instruction, but has not been written as an 
educational textbook as such. 

 
An example analysis demonstrates how financial statements are adjusted and how 
key figures are calculated. The principles and analysis of consolidated financial 
statements are explained in a separate guide: Consolidated Financial Statements in 
Corporate Analysis, which will also be updated to comply with the current 
legislation. 

 
The most recent update to this guide was completed by a working group 

comprising: 

 
Kirsi Heikinmatti  Customs 
Eetu Jahkonen  OP Financial Group 
Mari Kanervisto  Garantia Insurance Company Ltd 
Sari Kekki   Danske Bank 
Joonas Marjomaa  Finnvera Oyj 
Joni Ruusulaakso  OP Financial Group 
Ari Toivio   Suomen Asiakastieto Oy 
 
English translation and updates:  
 
Mikko Hollman   BSH Partners Oy (Chairman) 
Merja Hautaniemi   Finnvera Oyj 
Ari Toivio    Suomen Asiakastieto Oy 
Pasi Kopra    Vakuutusosakeyhtiö Garantia 
Tuuli Kurejoki    Danske Bank Oyj 
Joni Ruusulaakso    OP Ryhmä 
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1 INTRODUCTION 
 

The basic source data for analysis of financial statements are the official financial 
statements themselves, along with attachments and other available information. 
The point of adjusting financial statements is to refine the presented data so that it 
best serves the purposes of the individual performing an analysis. An analysis 
entails a conclusion concerning the items in the official financial statements and 
their evaluation on the one hand, and the categorisation of the items in determining 
the result, financial position and cash position on the other. 

 
The contents of this guide are structured so that official income statement and 
balance sheet formulas are followed by recommendations for an adjusted income 
statement and balance sheet. The guide to analysis consists of the content of each 
adjusted item in the financial statements, what the item in question is made up of, 
as well as any changes to the official figures that might be necessary. 

 
Consequently, corrections that are necessary because of recording errors, for 
example, are not presented as adjustments. On the other hand, adjustments might 
respond to inconsistencies in the calculation of asset items, or to observations or 
additional information in the auditor’s report. 

 
In the income statement, operating expenses are not divided into variable and fixed 
expenses. Consequently, the picture of the company’s cost structure provided by 
the financial statements is not as detailed as the data used in internal calculations. 
Although the operating margin no longer appears in the formula for the income 
statement, it is retained in the adjusted income statement and is still available as a 
sector-specific benchmark ratio. 

 
Updating this guide became necessary when the Finnish Parliament, based on the 
EU directive adopted in 2013, provided amendments to the Finnish Accounting 
Act and related laws that became effective in the beginning of 2016. The aim of 
the EU Accounting Directive is to harmonise the accounting standards and 
preparation of financial statements across the EU countries particularly with 
respect to small and medium sized enterprises. International accounting standards 
(IFRS standards) that primarily apply to large companies have not changed 
significantly in this context. 

 
The most significant changes include the clearer segregation between the 
scope of the financial statements and the obligation to prepare consolidated 
financial statements in enterprises of different sizes. New concepts 
introduced by the legislation include micro-undertaking, small undertaking 
and small group, whereas the concept of small reporting entity has been 
removed. Large undertaking is also a new term as defined in the legislation. 
Other changes include the new layout for the balance sheet and profit and 
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loss account, which are however, in substance, consistent with the provisions 
of the previous Accounting Ordinance. Even the new laws and the ordinance 
do not outline the method of recording capital loans unambiguously. 
Recording leasing agreements into the balance sheet and measuring 
investment properties at fair value has become possible under certain 
conditions. 

 
The income statement and balance sheet formulas included in the Accounting 
Ordinance underscore the audited company’s links to other companies bound up 
with the same entity. Corporate analysis of financial statements should also pay 
closer attention to analysing groups as a whole. 

 
 
 

The Guide to Analysing Financial Statements makes use of the following 
familiar concepts from accounting legislation: 

 
Group companies 

 
If a company holds an ownership stake of 0-100% and voting rights above 50%, or 
in other ways group companies have real control in another company, the former is 
the parent company and the latter is the subsidiary. 

 
Dominant influence 

 
A company shall be deemed to have dominant influence if it has  

more than half of the voting rights afforded by ownership of shares, or 
the right to appoint or dismiss a majority of the target company’s Board 
members or members of a comparable body, or  

if it is managed jointly with the target company, or  
if the company obliged to keep accounting records holds real control in the 

target company. 
 

Participating interest undertaking 
 

A participating interest undertaking is a company that does not belong to the group 

and in which the company obliged to keep accounting records has an ownership stake 

that creates a permanent link and is intended to further the activities of the company 

obliged to keep accounting records. A company is automatically a participating 

interest undertaking when its ownership stake is at least 20%, but a smaller 

ownership ratio may suffice to create a participant interest undertaking treatment. 
 

Associated company 
 

An associated company is a participant interest undertaking in which the company 
obliged to keep accounting records exercises considerable influence on the 
management of business and financing. An associated company does not belong to 
the group of the company obliged to keep accounting records. A participant 
interest undertaking is considered an associated company if the company obliged 
to keep accounting records holds at least 20% and at most 50% of voting rights. 
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Related parties 
 

A limited liability company’s related parties include:  
1) Companies belonging to the same group as well as those that have control 

in a company, or control in another exercising control in the company in 
question.  

2) Those that, by virtue of ownership, option or convertible bond, holds or 
can hold at least 1% of the company’s shares or the voting rights linked to 
shares, or a corresponding ownership or voting rights in a corporation 
forming part of the company’s group, or in a corporation or foundation that 
exercises voting rights in the corporation in question.  

3) The company’s managing director, members of the Board of Directors, the 
auditor.  

4) The spouses, partners or relatives of individuals mentioned in sections 1-3.  
5) A corporation or foundation in which individuals referred to in section 

2-4 individually or with someone else hold control according to Chapter 
1, Section 5 of the Accounting Act. 

 
Micro-undertaking 
 
Under the Accounting Act, the reporting entity is considered to be a micro-undertaking if a 
maximum of one of the thresholds mentioned below are exceeded at the balance sheet date 
of the previous financial year and the one immediately preceding it: 
 net turnover is a maximum of 700,000 euros, 
 total assets amount to a maximum of 350,000 euros and 
 the maximum number of employees is 10. 
 
Small undertaking 
Under the Accounting Act, the reporting entity is considered to be a small undertaking if a 
maximum of one of the thresholds mentioned below is exceeded at the balance sheet date of 
the previous financial year and the one immediately preceding it: 
 net turnover is a maximum of 12,000,000 euros, 
 total assets amount to a maximum of 6,000,000 euros and 
 the maximum number of employees is 50. 
 
Large undertaking 
Under the Accounting Act, the reporting entity is considered to be a large undertaking if at 
least two of the thresholds mentioned below are exceeded at the balance sheet date of the 
previous financial year and the one immediately preceding it: 
 net turnover is a minimum of 40,000,000 euros, 
 total assets amount to a minimum of 20,000,000 euros and 
 the minimum number of employees is 250. 
 
Public-interest entity 
Under the Accounting Act, the reporting entity is considered to be a public-interest entity if 
it is: 
 a Finnish entity which has issued a share, bond, or another security subject to trading on 

a regulated market, or  
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 a credit institution or 
 an insurance company. 

 

Consolidated financial accounts 
 

Consolidated financial accounts must be prepared if company distributes funds to 
its shareholders or if the company is a public limited company. However, 
consolidation is not required if the size of the group does not exceed limits of a 
Small undertaking presented earlier (p.9). 

 

Distribution of funds means distribution of a dividend or distribution of untied equity, 

redemption of own shares, distribution of funds in the event that the company is dissolved, and 

the granting of donations for charitable purposes. The limits are determined by adding together 

the figures for the parent company and subsidiaries. 
 

The Finnish Companies Act was changed on 31 December 2009 so that a sub-
group’s parent company does not need to prepare consolidated financial accounts 
in order to distribute funds if it does not already carry this obligation under the 
Accounting Act (Accounting Act 6:1.4, exception for sub-groups). 

 
Statement of changes in financial position 

 
A statement of changes in financial position must be prepared if  

the company is a large undertaking 
Public-interest entity 

 
Annual report 

 
Financial statements must be supplemented with an annual report if  

the company is a public limited company 
the company is a limited company or a cooperative, that is not a Small or Micro 
undertaking. 
the company is a Public-interest entity 

 
International Financial Reporting Standards 

 
A company must prepare consolidated financial accounts according to 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) if the company has issued 
securities subject to public trading. 
 
If the consolidated financial statements are prepared according to 
International Financial Reporting Standards, the parent company may apply 
the same standards in its financial statements. 

 
If the company that issued securities is not obliged to prepare consolidated 
financial accounts as specified above, it must nevertheless prepare its own 
financial statements in line with International Financial Reporting Standards. An 
individual company may always prepare its financial statements in line with 
International Financial Reporting Standards providing its accounting records and 
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financial statements are examined by an approved auditor as specified in the 
Auditing Act. 
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2 INCOME STATEMENT 
 

The income statement represents the structure of the company’s earnings in the 
form of a subtraction equation. The income statement is generally prepared on an 
accrual basis. The company obliged to keep accounting records has the 
possibility of choosing between a formula based on expense categories or 
operational categories. For self-employed persons, non-profit associations, 
foundations and real estate companies there are separate income statement 
formulae which are not discussed in this guide. 

 

2.1 STRUCTURE OF THE INCOME STATEMENT 
 

The income statement in official financial statements is adjusted for financial 
statement analysis according to the principles specified in Chapter 2.2 of this guide. 
The following pages detail the official income statement formulae based on 
expense or operational categories respectively under the Accounting Ordinance, as 
well as these same formulae adjusted for financial statement analysis. 

 
In addition, there is a numbered aid version of the income statement based on 
expense categories attached to this guide (Appendix 2), the numbering of which 
illustrates the location of different income statement items in the analysis. Data 
from a single financial statement item can be transferred to several sections of 
analysis, depending on the item’s original content. 

 
Income statement beginning with gross earnings 

 
A financial statement analysis cannot be prepared using an income statement 
beginning with gross earnings alone, because itemised information beginning with 
net sales is needed in order to do the sums of the analysis. 

 
A reporting entity that is considered a micro or small undertaking may prepare an 
income statement beginning with Gross earnings. 
 
In an income statement drawn up based on expense categories, gross 
earnings comprise the sum of 
 net sales, 
 change in inventories of finished goods and work-in-progress,  
 production for own use, 
 other operating income, and  
materials and services. 
 
In an income statement based on operational categories, gross earnings comprise 
the sum of  
 net sales, 
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 cost of goods sold, and  
 other operating income. 

 

2.1.1. Formula for income statement based on expense categories 
 

NET SALES (turnover)  
Increase (+) / decrease (-) in inventories of finished goods and 
work-in-progress 
Production for own use (+) 
Other operating income 
Materials and services 

Materials, supplies and goods 
Purchases during the financial period 
Increase (-) / decrease (+) in inventories 

Outsourced services 
Personnel expenses 

Wages and salaries 
Social security expenses 

Pension expenses 
Other social security expenses 

Depreciation and reductions in value 
Depreciation according to plan 
Reductions in value of goods held as non-current assets 
Exceptional reductions in value of current assets 

Other operating expenses 
OPERATING PROFIT (-LOSS) 
Financial income and expenses 

Income from group companies 
Income from participating interest companies 
Income from other investments held as non-current assets 

From group companies  
From others 

Other interest and financial income 
From group companies 
From others 

Reductions in value of investments held as non-current assets  
Reductions in value of investments held as current assets 
Interest and other financial expenses 

To group companies 
To others 
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PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE CLOSING ENTRIES AND 
TAXES 
Closing entries 

Increase (-) / decrease (+) in depreciation difference 
Increase (-) / decrease (+) in taxation-based reserves 
Group contribution  

Income taxes 
Taxes for the financial period 
Deferred taxes 

Other direct taxes 
PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE FINACIAL PERIOD 
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2.1.2 Financial statement analysis of income statement based on expense categories 
 

NET SALES (Turnover)      
Other operating income 

 

+ 
  

   

TOTAL OPERATING INCOME 
     

     
Materials and supplies used      
Outsourced services +     
Personnel expenses +     
Adjustment to entrepreneur’s salary +     
Other operating expenses +     
Change in stock of finished goods and work-in-      

progress inventories -/+ -   
      

OPERATING MARGIN (EBITDA)      

Depreciation according to plan  -   
Reductions in value of goods held as non-  -   
current assets      
Exceptional reductions in value of current      

assets  -   
      

OPERATING RESULT (EBIT)      

Income from shares and similar rights of      
ownership  +   
Other interest and financial income  +   
Interest and other financial expenses  -   
Foreign exchange gains/losses  +/-   
Reductions in value of investments  -   
Direct taxes  -   

      

NET RESULT      

Extraordinary income  +   
Extraordinary expenses 
Group contribution  -   

TOTAL RESULT      

Increase/decrease in depreciation difference  -/+   
Increase/decrease in taxation-based reserves  -/+   
Adjustment to entrepreneur’s salary  +   
Changes in fair value  +/-   
Other adjustments to profit  +/-   

RESULT FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD      
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2.1.3 Formula for income statement based on operational categories 
 

NET SALES (Turnover)  
Cost of goods sold 
Gross margin 
Sales and marketing expenses 
Administrative expenses 
Other operating income 
Other operating expenses 
OPERATING PROFIT (-LOSS) 
Financial income and expenses  

Income from group companies 
Income from participating interest companies 
Income from other investments held as non-current assets 

From group companies  
From others 

Other interest and financial income 
From group companies 
From others 

Reductions in value of investments held as non-current assets  
Reductions in value of investments held as current assets 
Interest and other financial expenses 

To group companies 
To others  

PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE CLOSING ENTRIES 
AND TAXES 
Closing entries 

Increase (-) / decrease (+) in depreciation difference 
Increase (-) / decrease (+) in taxation-based reserves 
Group contributions  

Income taxes 
Taxes for the financial period 
Deferred taxes 

Other direct taxes 
PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD 
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2.1.4 Financial statement analysis of income statements based on  
operational categories    
NET SALES (Turnover)    
Other operating income + 

  

  

TOTAL OPERATING INCOME 
   

   
Cost of goods sold -   
Sales and Marketing expenses -   
Administrative expenses -   
Adjustment to entrepreneur’s salary -   
Other operating expenses -   

    

OPERATING MARGIN (EBITDA)    

Depreciation according to plan -   
Reductions in value of goods held as non-current assets -   
Exceptional reductions in value of current assets -   

    

OPERATING RESULT (EBIT)    

Income on shares and similar rights of ownership +   
Other interest and financial income +   
Interest and other financial expenses -   
Foreign exchange gains/losses +/-   
Reductions in value of investments -   
Direct taxes -   

    

NET RESULT    

Extraordinary income +   
Extraordinary expenses 
Group contributions -   

    

TOTAL RESULT    

Increase/decrease in depreciation difference -/+   
Increase/ decrease in taxation-based reserves -/+   
Adjustment to entrepreneur’s salary +   
Changes in fair value +/-   
Other adjustments to profit    

RESULT FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD    
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2.2 ADJUSTMENTS TO THE INCOME STATEMENT 
 

The main purpose of financial statement analysis is to make it easy to compare 
different years and companies. The purpose of adjustments to the income statement 
is to give as accurate and comparable a picture as possible of the company’s 
business volume and profitability. 

 
According to the Accounting Ordinance, gross margin on sales and operating 
margin are not presented in the official income statement. The latter is retained in 
the adjusted income statement, but a more detailed examination of the operating 
cost structure requires data used in the company’s internal calculations. 

 
Net Sales (Turnover) 

 
According to the Accounting Act, net sales comprises proceeds from the sale of 
goods and services, reduced by granted discounts as well as value added tax and 
other direct taxes based on volume of sales. 

 
If the company uses the percentage of completion method (Accounting Standards 
Board, 30 September 2008), the volume corresponding the percentage in question 
is included in net sales. With respect to the company’s accounting records, the 
percentage of completion method means that work-in-progress is assigned a 
percentage based on the degree of completion. Similarly, expenditure 
corresponding to the percentage of completion is recorded under expenses. The 
percentage of completion reversing entry included in net sales is entered under 
prepaid expenses and accrued income (percentage of completion receivables, 
contract receivables, project receivables). Because the company itself estimates the 
degree of completion of work-in-progress, there is a certain amount of uncertainty 
at least regarding significant percentage of completion figures and long -term 
completion periods. When transferring to the percentage of completion method, 
comparison with previous financial periods becomes more difficult, as does 
comparison between different companies, because not all companies employ the 
percentage of completion method. 

 
Property Development 

 
For construction firms carrying out property development, only the sales proceeds of 

shares in housing companies and unfinished real estate companies (target company) 
caused by construction projects are presented as net sales. The income and expense 
items between the founder contractor and target company are subtracted from each 
other in financial statements, and income presented under the income statement of  

the founder contractor’s financial statements is generated from share sales to 

external companies and expenses from production of construction services. 
 

When a construction firm applies the percentage of completion method, the 
proportion of debt-free sales prices for sold housing company shares that 
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correspond to the degree of completion of construction is recorded as net sales for 
the financial period. 

 
The assets and liabilities that correspond to items presented in the income 
statement as net sales and expenses produced by construction services are recorded 
on the founder contractor’s balance sheet. When preparing financial statements, the 
founder contractor must enter receivables and liabilities from the target company as 
net values. In order to provide a correct and adequate picture, the unsold share of 
liabilities aimed at dwellings should be recorded in the founder contractor’s 
balance sheet to corresponding item in the target company’s balance sheet. 
(Accounting Standards Board, 17 January 2006) 

 
Other operating income 

 
Under the Accounting Act, other operating income comprises all income not 
included in the turnover, as the official layout for the financial statements no longer 
includes the item Extraordinary income. 

 
Such income includes rental income, received brokerage commissions as well as 
administrative, data handling and other compensation from other companies if the 
company’s main line of business is not rental activity or production of the 
aforementioned services. 

 
In an official income statement, grants received by the company’s primary 
operation such as research, product development and launch grants as well as 
employment and EU production subsidies are recorded under “Other operating 
income”. Such grants are not adjusted in analysis, but instead treated as other 
operating income. 

 
All profits from sales (e.g. sale of factory property or profit from sales connected 
to a complete withdrawal from a line of business) also belong under “Other 
operating income” in official financial statements according to the Accounting 
Act. 
 Compensation from loss-of-profits insurance belongs under “Other operating 
income” because it is intended for compensation of wages, expenses caused by 
damage, and unreceived balance contribution margin. 

 
Other operating income is specified in the notes to the financial statements, from which the 
extraordinary income can also be verified for adjustment purposes. 
 
Adjustment 

 
Other substantial or non-recurring operating income that weakens comparability 
between different years and companies is moved to extraordinary income, and any 
possible expenses resulting from their acquisition are correspondingly moved to 
extraordinary expenses. 

 
See the tax adjustment linked to this from section “Direct taxes,” page 26 

 
Materials and supplies used 
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Materials and supplies used is calculated by subtracting the increase in these 
inventories in the official income statement from purchases of materials and 
supplies, or correspondingly be adding the decrease in these inventories to 
purchases. 

 
In a company carrying out manufacturing activities, use of materials corresponding 
to net sales cannot be calculated, because the division between variable and fixed 
expenses is not presented in the income statement. 

 
Use of materials in retail firms includes purchases of supplies and all changes in 

inventories, and it directly relates the acquisition costs of products sold. 
 

Outsourced services 
 

Outsourced services and primarily payments made for work carried out and which 
are directly related to production or sales. These may include services rendered by 
subcontractors, planning and consultancy offices, or maintenance firms, or rental 
costs for temporary agency labour. This group does not therefore include payments 
made for administrative services. 

 
In annual comparison, growth in outsourced services may be explained by the 
company’s increasing use of subcontractors. This change may be reflected in a 
reduction in personnel expenses. 

 
Personnel expenses 
 

Personnel expenses include salaries subject to withholding tax and comparable 
expenses as well as expenses directly determined on the basis of salary such as 
social security expenses, mandatory and voluntary personnel insurance expenses, 
and pension expenses. 

 
Other voluntary personnel expenses are other business expenses. 

 
Adjustment to entrepreneur’s salary 

 
Different forms of companies are not treated uniformly by taxation. For example, a 
salary of a private entrepreneur is treated differently. The salary of a private 
entrepreneur is never included in the income statement, and in partnerships the 
owner’s salary may only be included as an expense in exceptional cases. This non-
standardised practice makes comparison difficult between small companies in 
particular. 

 
In corporate analysis, attempts are made to present the analysed companies in a 
comparable manner when examining profitability. The picture given of profitability 
is distorted if personnel remuneration and other corresponding expenses that are 
needed to produce products are not included in the income statement. Contribution 
made by owner-managers is especially significant in small enterprises. 
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Failure to carry out an adjustment to entrepreneur’s salary is often justified with 
the argument that size of the increase cannot be estimated with sufficient accuracy 
because, for example, the owner enjoys other benefits in place of salary that 
cannot be assessed by an external examiner (housing benefit, company car etc.). 
Fringe benefits comparable with salary and other expenses may be included in 
some other items of the income statement in addition to personnel costs. 

 
The owner of the partnership almost always bypasses the income statement in 
drawing his salary via a private account, directly debiting shareholders’ equity on 
the balance sheet. Comparing a private drawing with entrepreneur’s salary is not 
necessary correct in an analysis, because the amount of private drawings generally 
depends on the company’s liquidity and the owner’s funding needs. 

 
Adjustment 

 
It is recommended that an adjustment to entrepreneur’s salary is carried out in 
an analysis of financial statements if the owners’ contribution to the company is 
apparent and a corresponding salary for the contribution is not recorded as an 
expense in the income statement. An adjustment to entrepreneur’s salary is not 
primarily carried out in real estate companies, foundations or associations. 

 
The adjustment covers both partnerships and private entrepreneurs. An adjustment 
to entrepreneur’s salary is also made in limited liability companies when the 
owners’ salary expenses are not included under expenses in the income statement. 
The size of the private drawings or dividend distribution does not affect the size of 
the adjustment. 

 
It is recommended that the size of the adjustment to entrepreneur’s salary 

is staggered in line with the company’s net sales as follows: 
 

Net sales (12 months),  
EUR  
100,000 – 500,000  
> 500,000 

 
Salary adjustment/person,  
EUR  
30,000  
50,000 
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If several persons from the same household are all owners, a smaller adjustment 
per person may be considered than that specified above; for example, 50% of the 
above sums. In determining the size of the adjustment to entrepreneur’s salary, the 
length of the financial period should also be taken into account. 

 
The adjustment to entrepreneur’s salary is a deferred item that burdens the 

profitability, and which has no impact on the company’s solvency or cash 

flow. 
 

Other operating expenses 
 

Other operating expenses comprises all expense items of the company that are not 
separately mentioned in the income statement, regardless of whether they are 
recurring or extraordinary in nature. Other expenses include, for example, rent, 
leasing fees, advertising and marketing expenses, administrative services, and 
telecommunications and banking service charges. This item also includes paid 
sales commissions, author salaries and credit losses rendered. 

 
Losses on sale of non-current assets (e.g. sale of factory real estate or sales losses 
resulting from complete withdrawal from a line of business) also belong under 
other operating expenses according to the Accounting Act. 

 
Other operating expenses that are extraordinary in nature must be broken down 
within the notes. The breakdown of other operating expenses is essential when 
assessing the correct position of significant expenses regarding the business 
operation in order to perform an analysis. 

 
Adjustment 

 
Non-recurring items not part of the business operation but essential to result, which 
are listed under other operating expenses in the official income statement and make 
profitability comparison between years difficult, are transferred to extraordinary 
expenses. 

 
See the tax adjustment linked to this from section “Direct taxes,” page 26. 

 
Change in finished goods and work-in-progress 

 
The change in finished goods and work-in-progress in an adjusted income 
statement for a company carrying out manufacturing activity is calculated by 
adding production for own use to change in finished goods and work-in-progress. 
This refers to assets produced by the company but recorded as non-current assets 
instead of sales. 

 
Change in advances paid in inventories is not included in the income statement’s 

change in inventories. 
 

Depreciation according to plan 
 



 
23 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Depreciation according to plan during the financial period is presented in the 
income statement. Depreciation according to plan is based on the acquisition 
cost of non-current assets and their economic operating life (Appendix 1: 
Accounting Standards Board’s General Guideline on Depreciation According to 
Plan, 16 October 2007). 

 
Exceptions in the length of the financial period do not create a need for adjustment, 
because depreciation according to plan is calculated on a monthly basis using the 
asset’s operating life. Received investment grants reduce the acquisition cost of the 
asset subject to depreciation. Depreciation is therefore made by subtracting the 
investment grant from the acquisition cost.  

 
Used reserve is treated as an increase in depreciation difference. 

 
A possible extra depreciation is included in depreciation according to plan in cases 
where the depreciation plan must be corrected as a result of a change in the 
expected economic operating life of non-current assets. 

 
In order to simplify the practice of depreciation, the Accounting Standards Board 
has issued a general guideline (Appendix 1: Accounting Standards Board’s General 
Guideline on Depreciation According to Plan, 16 October 2007), which states that 
small enterprises also have the possibility of using the reducing balance method of 
depreciation. Applying the reducing balance method with micro and small 
undertakings requires that the depreciation percentages used are sufficiently high: 
as a rule, close to the maximum depreciations under the Business Tax Act. 

 
Adjustment 

 
In an income statement based on operational categories, depreciation is separated 
from various expense types to constitute its own item. This is also how one 
calculates the operating margin. 

 
If depreciations made are not proportionate to the amount or quality of non-current 
assets, or depreciation times clearly exceed the recommendations of the 
Accounting Standards Board, maximum depreciations in the Business Tax Act 
shall be used as depreciations according to plan. 

 
The difference between depreciations in the Business Tax Act and the 
depreciation’s made by the company is visible in the adjusted income statement 
under the item “Other adjustments to profit”. 

 
 

Reductions in value of goods held as non-current assets and 
Exceptional reductions in value of current assets 

 
In order to improve the clarity of information presented in financial statements, 
depreciation is divided into two items: planned depreciation made according to 
time lapsed, and reductions in value made due to falling probable sale price. 
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Because the concept of depreciation is restricted to use with non-current assets, 
there is a separate term for larger than usual reductions in value in current assets in 
the income statement: Exceptional reductions in value of current assets. This item 
covers significant reductions in value of inventories resulting from exceptional 
causes. The item is one part of the change in inventories, along with changes in 
inventories of finished goods and work-in-progress inventories, and changes in 
inventories of materials, supplies and goods. 

 
Reductions in value related to primary operations, such as technical rundown of 
products or raw materials, or reductions in value resulting from deterioration, are 
included in changes in inventories, while credit losses resulting from ordinary 
customer risks are included in other operating expenses. 

 
Exceptionally large reductions in value may be caused by, for example, a fire or 

other accident. 
 

Income on shares and similar rights of ownership 
 

This group comprises items in the official income statement 
 

Income from group companies  
Income from participating interest companies  
Income from other investments held as non-current assets 

 
Income from group and participating interest companies refers to dividends and 

other investors’ income stakes that come last in priority. 
 

Income from other investments held as non-current assets includes income from 
both equity and liability investments. This income comes from other equity 
investments as well as non-current loans granted by the company obliged to keep 
accounting records. This item also includes profit on exchange from non-current 
equity investments. 

 
Income from equity investments is dividends and other investors’ income stakes 
that come last in the order of priority. This item also includes interest on 
convertible bonds. 

 
 

Adjustment 
 

In the adjusted income statement, profit on exchange is transferred to foreign 

exchange gains or losses. 

 

Other interest and financial income 
 

This item includes income from current assets and investments as well as foreign 
exchange gains from them. In the official income statement, income from group 
companies and income from others are separated from each other. This item may 
also include changes in fair value resulting from evaluation of financial instruments 
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(Accounting Standards Board’s general guideline, 13 December 2005) and 
investment properties. 

 
Adjustment 

 
In the adjusted income statement, profit on exchange is transferred to foreign 
exchange gains or losses.  
Changes in fair value included in financial income are entered under “Total 

result” in the adjusted income statement. Companies whose principal line of 

business consists of investing in properties or financial instruments and 

whose revenue generation model is essentially based on changes in the value 

of said asset items can be considered an exception. 
 

Interest and other financial expenses 
 

Interest includes expenses on liabilities calculated on a temporal basis and paid to 
insurance institutes and other lenders. Exchange rate losses may also be included in 
this item. This item may also include reductions in fair value of financial 
instruments and investment properties. 

 
Adjustment 

 
In the adjusted income statement, foreign exchange losses are transferred to the 

section “foreign exchange gains or losses”. 
 

Changes in fair value included in financial expenses are transferred to income 

arrangement items beneath “Total result” in the adjusted income statement. 

Companies whose principal line of business consists of investing in 

properties or financial instruments and whose revenue generation model is 

essentially based on changes in the value of said asset items can be 

considered an exception. 
 
 

Foreign exchange gains/losses 
 

Foreign exchange gains or losses is not mentioned as a separate item in official 
income statement formulae, but they may nevertheless be presented separately if 
they are of a significant size. Foreign exchange gains may also be recorded under 
the items Income from other investments held as non-current assets and Other 
interest and financial income, and foreign exchange losses under the item Interest 
and other financial expenses. The Accounting Standards Board issued a general 
guideline on the matter on 13 December 2005. 

 
Adjustment 
 

All foreign exchange gains or losses included in the aforementioned items are 

transferred to the section “foreign exchange gains or losses”. 
 

Reductions in value of investments 
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In this item are reduction in value of investments and loan receivables held as 

current assets. 
 

Direct taxes 
 

The adjusted income statement includes the following items from the 
official income statement: 

 Income taxes 
 Other direct taxes 

 
The real estate tax and public broadcasting tax are deemed as other operating expenses. 

 
Taxes affecting the net result are taken as those taxes levied on income from the 

financial year in question. 
 

Adjustment 
 

Tax returns received or additional taxes paid from previous financial period are 

extraordinary income or expenses. 
 

Direct taxes arising from other operating income and expenses adjusted as 
extraordinary income and expenses are likewise transferred to extraordinary 
income and expenses. However, the adjustment amounts to no more than the 
amount of tax from that financial period. 

 
Change in deferred tax receivables and liabilities is transferred from taxes to the 

section Other adjustments to profit.  
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3 BALANCE SHEET 
 

 

The balance sheet gives a description of the company’s financial position at the 
balance sheet date. Balance sheet assets describe the company’s capital tied to the 
operation. Asset items are presented in order of liquidity, so that the least liquid 
items are presented first and the most liquid, such as cash, are presented last. 
Balance sheet liabilities show how company's capital tied to the operation is 
funded. Shareholders’ equity is presented first, and liabilities thereafter. The 
scope of the balance sheet layout is in principle determined according to the size 
of the undertaking. 

 

3.1 BALANCE SHEET STRUCTURE 
 

The balance sheet in official financial statements is revised for financial statement 
analysis according to the principles specified in Chapter 3.2 of this guide. The 
following pages present the official balance sheet layout under the Accounting 
Ordinance, which has been updated to comply with the new Accounting Act, and 
the same layout adjusted for financial statement analysis. 

 
In addition, there is a numbered aid version of the balance sheet attached to this 
guide (Appendix 3), the numbering on which illustrates the location of different 
balance sheet items in the analysis. Data from a single item in the financial 
statements can be transferred into several sections of the analysis, according to the 
item’s original content. 
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3.1.1 Formula for the balance sheet 
Assets 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 
Intangible assets  

Development expenses  
Intangible rights  
Goodwill  
Other intangible assets  
Advances paid 

 
Tangible assets  

Land and waters 
Owned  
Leases  

Buildings and constructions  
Owned  
Leases  

Machinery and equipment  
Other tangible asset  
Advances paid and 
unfinished acquisitions 

 
Investments  

Shares and similar rights of ownership 
in group companies 
Receivables from group companies 
Shares and similar rights of ownership 
in participating interest companies  
Receivables from participating intrest 
companies  
Other shares and similar rights of 
ownership  
Other receivables 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

CURRENT ASSETS  
Inventories  
Materials and supplies  
Work-in-progress  
Finished goods / Inventories  
Other inventories  
Advances paid 

 
Receivables 
Long-term  

Trade receivables  
Receivables from group companies  
Receivables from participating interest companies  
Loan receivables   
Other receivables 
Subscribed capital unpaid  
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 

 
Short-term  

Trade receivables  
Receivables from group companies  
Receivables from participating interest companies  
Loan receivables   
Other receivables 
Subscribed capital unpaid  
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 

 
 
Financial assets 
 

Shares and similar rights of ownership in group 
companies 
Other shares and similar rights of ownership 
Other securities 

 
Cash in hand and at banks 
 

Total assets 
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SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
Share or other similar capital 
Share premium  
Revaluation reserve  
Other funds 

Reserve for invested unrestricted 
equity 
Legal reserve 
Funds stipulated in the articles of 
association or rules  
Fair value reserve 
Other funds 

 
Retained earnings (losses) 

Profit/loss for the financial year 
 
 
 
 

 

ACCUMULATED CLOSING 
ENTRIES  

Depreciation difference 
Taxation-based reserves 

 
COMPULSORY PROVISIONS 

Provisions for pensions 
Provisions for taxation 
Other compulsory provisions 

 
 
 

 

LIABILITIES  
Long-term 

Capital loans 
Bonds 
Convertible bonds 
Loans from financial institutions 
Loans from pension institutions 
Advances received 
Trade payables 
Bills of exchange payable 
Loans from group companies  
Loans from participating interest companies 
Deferred tax liabilities 
Other liabilities 
Deferred income and accrued expenses 

 
Short-term  

Capital loans 
Bonds 
Convertible bonds 
Loans from financial institutions 
Loans from pension institutions 
Advances received 
Trade payables 
Bills of exchange payable 
Loans from group companies  
Loans from participating interest companies 
Deferred tax liabilities 
Other liabilities 
Deferred income and accrued expenses 

 
 

 

Total shareholders' equity and liabilities 
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3.1.2 Financial statement analysis of the adjusted balance sheet 
 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 
Development expenses 
Goodwill 
Other intangible assets 

Total intangible assets 
Land and waters 
Buildings and constructions 
Machinery and equipment 
Other tangible assets 

Total tangible assets 
Internal shares and similar rights 
of ownership  
Other shares and similar rights of 
ownership 
Internal receivables 
Other investments and receivables  

Total investments and long-
term receivables 

 
Leasing assets 

 
 

 
CURRENT ASSETS  

Materials and supplies 
Work-in-progress 
Finished goods 
Other inventories 

Total inventories 
 

 
Trade receivables  
Internal trade receivables  
Other internal receivables  
Other receivables  

Total short-term receivables 
 

Cash and marketable securities 

Total assets 

 
SHAREHOLDERS’ 

EQUITY Share capital 
Share premium and revaluation reserve 
Fair value reserve 
Other reserves 
Retained earnings  
Result for the financial period 
Capital loans 

Shareholder’s equity 
Depreciation difference 
Taxation-based reserves  

Depreciation difference and taxation-
based reserves  
Adjustments to shareholders’ equity 
Total adjusted shareholders’ equity 
 
LIABILITIES 

Capital loans 
Loans from financial institutions 
Advances received 
Loans from pension institutions 
Internal liabilities 
Other long-term liabilities 

Total long-term liabilities 
 
Deferred taxes 
Compulsory provisions  
Leasing commitments 
 

Short-term interest-bearing liabilities 
Advances received  
Trade payables  
Internal trade payables  
Other internal interest-bearing liabilities  
Other internal non-interest-bearing liabilities  
Other short-term non-interest-bearing liabilities  

Total short-term liabilities 

Total adjusted liabilities 
 
Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 
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3.2 ADJUSTMENTS TO THE BALANCE SHEET ITEMS 
 

The purpose of adjustments to the balance sheet items is to give an accurate and 

comparable picture of the company’s financial position at the end of financial year. 
 

Intangible assets 
 

Only expenses from which will probably accrue corresponding income over the 
coming years may be capitalised as intangible assets. Acquisition costs of rights 
and funds acquired for valuable consideration and which belong to intangible 
assets should be capitalised. 

 
Capitalisation of establishment and research expenses is not possible; rather, these 
expenses should be recorded as annual expenses.  

 
If capitalisation of intangible assets are deemed to be unjustified, they are removed 
from balance sheet funds and the balance sheet’s shareholders’ equity is reduced by 
a corresponding amount. 

 
Development expenses 

 
Development expenses related to development activity specified in the relevant 
decision by the Ministry of Employment and the Economy (ordinance on activating 
development expenses 1066/2008) may only be capitalized providing all of the 
following conditions are met: 
 Completion of the intangible asset is carried out technically in such a way that 

the asset is available or saleable. 
 The company obliged to keep accounting records intends to complete the 

intangible asset and use it or sell it. 
 The company obliged to keep accounting records is able to use the intangible 

asset or sell it. 
 It is probable that the intangible asset will generate corresponding financial 

gain for the company obliged to keep accounting records. 
 The company obliged to keep accounting records has access to sufficient 

technical, financial and other resources to see the development activity through 
to completion or sale. 

 The company obliged to keep accounting records is able to reliably determine 
the expenses generated by the intangible asset during its development phase. 
 

Development activity refers to the application of research results or other 

knowledge to the design of new or substantially improved materials, equipment, 

products, processes, systems or services before beginning commercial production 

and practice. 
 

Development activity includes: 
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 design, construction and testing of prototypes and models before beginning production 
or practice, 

 design of instruments, controls, moulds and matrices based on new technology, 
 planning, construction and use of testing facilities that are not large enough to support 

profitable commercial production, and 
 design, execution and testing of a selected new or improved raw material, device, 

product, process, system or service. 
 

Development expenses are only seen to include expenses directly caused by 
development activity, such as personnel expenses exclusively in relation to 
personnel working directly on the development activity. 

 
An itemised list of capitalised development expenses not subject to depreciation 
should be provided in the notes to the financial statements, this list clearly showing 
separately the development expenses that are specified in the ordinance and that 
meet capitalisation requirements. 

 
Unless the reporting entity can estimate their useful life in a reliable manner, 

development expenses must be recorded as expenses under depreciations 

within ten years at maximum. Capitalised development expenses directly 

decrease the amount of distributable equity. 
 

Adjustment 
 

Development expenses shown to generate no income are removed in the analysis 

all at once from the balance sheet’s assets and shareholders’ equity. 
 
 

Goodwill 
 

Goodwill results from a merger or acquisition. In an acquisition goodwill is created 
when the purchase price exceeds the net asset value. Goodwill arising in a merger 
is the part of the acquisition expense that cannot be recorded under tangible assets 
in the balance sheet. Goodwill must be recorded as an expense during its useful 
life. 
 
Unless the reporting entity can estimate its useful life in a reliable manner, 
goodwill must be recorded as expenses under depreciations within ten years at 
maximum. 
 

Goodwill may prove to be worthless when, for example, it results previous years’ 

losses of a company that has been merged into another. 
 

Adjustment 
 

Goodwill without any concrete value should be removed from the total asset and 

shareholder's equity. 
 

Other intangible assets 
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In the adjusted balance sheet, Intangible rights, Other intangible assets and 

Advances paid pertaining to intangible assets are included in other intangible 

assets. 
 

The item Intangible rights includes, among others, patents, publication and 
manufacturing rights, trademark and intellectual property rights, traffic permits, 
pharmaceutical licenses, and computer software licenses. If the aforementioned 
has been acquired for valuable consideration, they must be capitalised and 
depreciated during the economic lifetime. Intangible assets produced by the 
company itself may be capitalized with particular prudence. 

 
The item Other intangible assets may include, for example, renovation of rented 
premises, advertising campaigns, or expenses from computer software created by 
the company itself, which is not generally possible to realise separately. This item 
may also include development expenses that do not fulfill the capitalisation 
requirements specified in the ministry’s decision. 

 
The Advances paid item includes advance payments made to vendors of intangible 

assets. 
 

Unless the reporting entity can estimate their useful life in a reliable manner, other 
long-term expenditure must be amortised within ten years at maximum. 

 

Tangible assets 
 

Land and waters 
 

Land and waters includes land and forests area, built and empty plots, and water 
areas. Land and water areas are not generally subject to depreciation. One 
exception is depreciation due to use of land-based raw materials. 

 
Rises in the value of land are presented as revaluation reserve. Thus, it will not 
have an effect on the profit for the fiscal period. A revaluation is recorded directly 
under shareholders’ equity. If an earlier revaluation is shown to be unjustified, it 
must be reversed under the Accounting Act and the revaluation reserve 
correspondingly reduced. 

 
Buildings and constructions 

 
Buildings include factory buildings and workshops, warehouse, retail and office 

buildings, hotels, residential buildings and structures. 
 

Buildings and constructions are recorded under expenses as depreciation for the 
duration of financial action. Renovations and other relatively large repairs and 
interest during construction may be capitalized to acquisition cost, and depreciated 
together with the building. 
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Revaluations are not possible for buildings that are considered fixed assets. Some 

previous revaluations may nevertheless be retained in the balance sheet values. 

Changes in fair value pertaining to investment properties are discussed separately 

within the guide (p. 34). 
 

Investment grants for buildings are treated as reductions of acquisition cost, but use 
of the replacement reserve for investment does not reduce acquisition cost. The 
replacement reserve is recorded through change in voluntary provisions. 

 
Machinery and equipment 

 
Machinery and equipment includes various production machinery and equipment, 
office machinery, furniture, retail furnishings, vehicles, instruments and moulds. 
Machinery and equipment are recorded under expenses as depreciation for the 
economic lifetime. 

 
Investment grants for machinery and equipment are treated as reductions of acquisition 
cost, but use of the replacement reserve for investment does not reduce acquisition cost. 
The replacement reserve is recorded through change in voluntary provisions.  

 

Other tangible assets 
 

The item Other tangible assets includes the official balance sheet’s other tangible 

assets as well as advance payments on tangible assets and unfinished acquisitions. 
 

Other tangible assets are gravel and clay sources, ore and mineral deposits, stone 
quarries, peat bogs, railways, bridges, dams, reservoirs, the construction of golf 
courses, courtyard asphalt etc. Depreciation on soil is calculated in line with the 
utilization. Construction in progress which is not depreciated is also included in 
this group. 

 
Investment properties 

Investment properties that are recorded under non-current assets can be recognized 
at fair value under the new Accounting Act. The official balance sheet layout does 
not include an item for investment properties, but they can be included in an 
official balance sheet as a dedicated item. The item is recorded following the same 
principles that are applied to the asset item in question in IFRS financial statements 
(IAS 40, IFRS 13, also see KILA 1949/2016). Changes in fair value are recognised 
in profit and loss. 

 
 
Long-term investments and receivables 

 
The official balance sheet’s long-term investments and receivables are presented in 
the adjusted balance sheet as a single group, which is divided into Shares and 
similar rights of ownership in group companies, Other shares/similar rights of 
ownership, Receivables from group companies and Other receivables and 
investments. The official balance sheet’s long-term receivables from current assets 
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are transferred in the revised balance sheet to investments in non-current assets and 
to long-term receivables. 

 
Internal shares and similar rights of ownership 

 
Internal shares and similar rights of ownership are the following items from the 
official balance sheet:  
Shares and similar rights of ownership in group companies  
Shares and similar rights of ownership in participating companies 

 
Adjustment 

 
If the owned company’s shareholders’ equity is lost and, on the basis of 
information available, the shares have no value, the shares’ balance sheet value 
should be written down from shareholders’ equity and from shares. 

 
Other shares and similar rights of owhnership 

 
This item includes shares in limited liability companies, including housing 
company shares, cooperative membership cards, stakes in open companies and 
limited partnerships, and transferrable connection fees such as electrical, water 
mains and district heating network connections. 

 

Internal receivables 
 

Receivables from group companies are the following items from the official 
balance sheet:  
Receivables from group companies  
Receivables from participating interest companies 

 
Internal receivables are long-term receivables from owners and group companies as 
well as other related parties. These receivables include sales, loan and accounts 
receivables. Short-term receivables that are not liquid also belong to these long-
term receivables.  
 
A loan receivable is always a risk investment, and its repayment cannot be 
guaranteed. 

 
Adjustment 

 
Internal loan recevables are deducted from receivables and shareholders’ equity in 
the following situations:  

The limited liability company has unsecured loan receivables from its owners, 
a loan receivable from owners does not reduce / increase / entail uncertainty 
due to the owner’s or the company’s own poor financial situation, or the 
owners in question do not draw salary / dividends from the company at all. 
The shareholders’ equity of the debtor company, from which receivables 
are due, is lost and redemption is uncertain or unlikely. 

It is unlikely that the loan receivable will be redeemed. 
 

Other investments and receivables 
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Other investments are seen to comprise long -term investment-like items not 
belonging to the previous groups, as well as all investments that do not serve 
primary operation. 

 
In the adjusted balance sheet, the following items from the official balance sheet’s 

investments and long-term receivables are combined in this group: 

 Other receivables  

 Trade receivables  

 Loan receivables 

 Prepaid expenses and accrued income 
 

Leasing assets 
 

Leasing arrangements are generally used for long-term leasing of machinery and 
equipment. Leasing commitments are leasing fees remaining at the balance sheet 
date, as well as those due to be paid in the following or later financial years.  
Leasing commitments are liabilities outside the balance sheet that are presented in 

attachments to the financial statements. 

 

Under the new Accounting Act, the lessee may recognise an asset acquired under 

a leasing agreement in its financial statements as if it was bought and the lessor as 

if it was sold if the risks based on the asset are essentially transferred from the 

lessor to the lessee. In this case, the IFRS standards should be applied to the 

recognition and all similar agreements must be treated the same way. 
 

Adjustment 
 

Remaining leasing fees are added to the balance sheet’s assets column as Leasing 

assets and to the liabilities column as Leasing commitments. 
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CURRENT ASSETS 
 

Inventories 
 

The acquisition costs of inventories comprise the direct expenses arising from 
the purchase and production of assets. If the amount of indirect expenses related 
to the purchase and production of the asset is substantial in comparison to the 
acquisition cost, a reasonable portion of the indirect expenses may be counted as 
part of the acquisition cost. In this case, the indirect expenses must be verifiable 
in a reliable manner using the company’s internal accounting. 
 
The valuation of inventories is based on the presumption that the delivery order 
corresponds to the order of acquisition (FIFO) or is the opposite (LIFO), unless 
otherwise specified in the financial statements. 

 
Materials and supplies 

 
Materials and supplies include the raw materials required to manufacture products, 
as well as auxiliary and necessary materials directly needed in manufacturing or in 
maintenance of machinery and equipment used in manufacturing, as well as 
packaging materials. The inventories of companies engaged in wholesale or retail 
trade are recorded under this item. 

 
Work-in-progress 

 
Work-in-progress includes all goods and projects that are in progress at the time of 

closing of the books. 
 

Finished goods 
 

Finished goods includes products that have been manufactured by the company 

and are intended for delivery. 
 

Adjustment 
 

If a company engaged in wholesale or retail business has recorded its inventories 

under this category they are transferred to the item Materials and supplies. 
 

Other inventories 
 

Official balance sheet items Other inventories and Advances paid belong other 

inventories. 
 

Other inventories includes, inter alia, securities intended for sale by a company 
engaged in trading securities, real estate acquired for sale by a real estate agent, and 
construction companies’ unsold shares. 

 
Advances paid on inventories refers to a payment for orders that the company has not 

yet received. Advances paid is presented in the balance sheet as a separate item, and 

any change in them is not included in changes in inventories in the income statement. 
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The income statement’s change in inventories and the balance sheet’s change in 
inventories do not always match. For example, the inventories of a construction 
company operating as a founder contractor include the apartments in a housing 
company that have not yet been sold. These apartments are temporary capital 
investments in a housing company, and their change is not shown in the income 
statement. 

 
Short-term receivables 

 
The official balance sheet’s short-term receivables are presented in the adjusted 
balance sheet as a single group, which divided into accounts receivable, internal 
accounts receivable, other internal receivables and other receivables. 

 
Trade receivables 

 
Receivables resulting from completed sales to external parties are recorded as trade 
receivables. Credit losses resulting from trade receivables are recorded under other 
operating expenses. 

 
If the company uses factoring finance and follows the gross record method, trade 
receivables also include receivables covered by factoring credit, and factoring 
credit that has been used is shown in the balance sheet’s liabilities. The net record 
method means that trade receivables only include the part not covered by factoring, 
and factoring credit is left out of the balance sheet. 

 
Adjustment 

 
If the company using factoring finance applies the net record method, used factoring 

credit is added to trade receivables and to the balance sheet’s liabilities. This adjustment 

is not necessary if the receivables’ credit risk is transferred to the financier. 
 

Internal trade receivables 
 

According to the official balance sheet formula, internal trade receivables include 
either receivables from group companies or receivables from participating interest 
companies. 

 
In the adjusted balance sheet, the segment of trade receivables from the 
aforementioned items is combined under internal trade receivables. The final 
segment goes under the section other internal receivables. 

 
According to the Accounting Ordinance, receivables from group companies and  
participating interest companies should be declared in appendices separately under 

trade receivables, other receivables and accrued income. 
 

Other internal receivables 
 

Under other receivables from group companies, other receivables and accounts 
receivables are combined from the following items:  
 Receivables from group companies 
 Receivables from participating interest companies 



 
39 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Other receivables 

 
Other receivables are receivables from external parties. This item combines the 
official balance sheet’s short-term items  

 Loan receivables  
 Other receivables 
 Prepaid expenses and accrued income and 
 Subscribed capital unpaid 

 
According to the Accounting Act prepaid expenses and accrued income are 

itemised in appendices. 
 

Prepaid expenses and accrued income are:  
expenses from the upcoming financial year paid in advance, i.e. 
advance expenses, 
income from the financial year that has come to a close that has not yet been 
paid, i.e. accrued income that has not been recorded in accounts receivable,  
percentage of completion receivables, and 

deferred tax receivables. 
 

Percentage of completion receivables included in prepaid expenses and accrued 

income, are by their nature considered work-in-progress. 
 

Adjustment 
 

Percentage of completion receivables included in prepaid expenses and accrued 
income are treated as an item of working capital in the calculation of key figures 
and in the liquidity examination. 

 
Cash and financial securities 

 
In the adjusted balance sheet, the following items from the official financial 
statements have been combined:  
 Marketable securities 
 Cash in hand and at banks 
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Shareholders’ equity 
 

Shareholders’ equity only deals with the shareholders’ equity of limited liability 
companies. Shareholders’ equity is the foundation of a limited liability company’s 
fund distribution, the company’s buffer against risk, and a measure of its solvency. 
Both the company’s owners and its external stakeholders are particularly interested 
in shareholders’ equity. 

 
The Finnish Companies Act, which strengths protection for creditors in particular, 
includes provisions on the retention or loss of shareholders’ equity. Statements of 
shareholders’ equity or changes to its should be included in appendices to financial 
statements. 

 
According to the Finnish Companies Act, a company’s shareholders’ equity is 
divided into restricted and unrestricted shareholders’ equity. In order to give an 
accurate and complete picture in appendices to financial statements, it is advisable 
to present this division and to declare separately the amount of unrestricted 
shareholders’ equity to be distributed. Restricted shareholders’ equity includes 
share capital, the revaluation reserve and the fair value reserve, as well as the 
abolished share premium account and reserve fund specified in the Companies Act. 
Other reserves as well as earnings for the financial year and retained earnings are 
unrestricted shareholders’ equity. 

 
Distributing the funds of a limited liability company 

 
A limited liability company may distribute its funds as dividends or other 
distributed funds using the amount of shareholders’ equity left over after reserves 
that must not be distributed according to the articles of association, providing the 
distribution of funds do not undermine the company’s solvency. Capitalised 
development expenses must be noted as a negative item in the calculation of 
distributable equity. 

 
The limited liability company may not distribute dividends or any other funds if it 
is known or should be known at the time of the decision that the company is 
insolvent, or that the distribution will cause the company to become insolvent. 

 
The following factors must be taken into account when deciding on distribution of 
funds: 
 Confirmation of the company’s solvency (see p. 52–53). 
 A distribution must always be based on the most recently confirmed financial statements. If 

the company is obliged to keep accounting records according to the law or the articles of 
association, the financial statements must also be audited. 

 Substantial changes in the company’s financial position that have taken place after 
completion of the financial statements. 
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The Limited Liability Companies Act also enables distribution of profits on the 
basis of intermediate financial statements covering a part of the financial year, i.e. 
an intermediate dividend distribution. An intermediate dividend distribution must 
be based on financial statements covering part of the financial year, which must 
meet all the same content requirements as financial statements prepared for an 
entire financial year (Auditing Act, Section 3:1). Intermediate dividend 
distributions should also be declared in the notes to the financial statements later 
prepared for the entire financial year, as a separate item in the section on 
shareholders’ equity. (Accounting Standards Board, 1815/2008). 

 
 

Reduction in the funds of a limited liability company 
 

If a limited liability company’s shareholders’ equity turns negative, the Board of 
Directors must make a trade register notification about the loss of shareholders’ 
equity without delay to the National Board of Patents and Registration. In such 
situations however, a capital loan as specified in Chapter 12 of the Limited 
Liability Companies Act, for example, may be considered shareholders’ equity (see 
p. 45–46). 

 
If an intermediate dividend distribution based on a part-year financial statement has 
been carried out in accordance with the provisions on distribution of funds in 
Chapter 13 of the Limited Liability Companies Act, but it is noted when compiling 
the whole-year financial statements that there are no distributable funds, this is 
recorded in the notes to the balance sheet in the shareholders’ equity items. 
(Accounting Standards Board, 1815/2008). 

 
Share capital 

 
A limited liability company’s share capital as well as equity or cooperative capital 
invested in the company in other company forms are recorded in this item. A 
limited liability company’s share capital is only formed with a trade register record, 
and share issue linked to a correction of share capital should be kept as a separate 
item until it is registered as share capital. 

 
Share premium reserve 

 
Accrual of share premium reserves (and legal reserves) is no longer possible 
under the current Limited Liability Companies Act. Existing share premium 
reserves (and legal reserves) are treated as restricted shareholders’ equity. 
 
Share premium accounts have resulted, i.a., from share prices paid in a new 
record, which have exceeded the shares nominal value. A reserve fund is used, 
i.a., to increase share capital and cover losses, as well as to cover an under-valued 
price. 
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Revaluation reserve 
 

If the value of a land or water area included in non-current assets or a security 

that is not a financial instrument as specified in Chapter 5, section 2a of the 

Accounting Act has permanently increased, the difference between the probable 

selling price and the undepreciated acquisition cost may be recorded in the 

revaluation reserve. 
 

Fair value reserve 
 

The fair value reserve may be presented in the balance sheet’s shareholders’ equity 
if the probable sale price on the market, i.e. fair value, has been used when 
evaluating financial instruments. According to an ordinance issued by the Ministry 
of Employment and the Economy (1315/2004), financial instruments that are 
recorded in balance sheet assets and for which there are reliable, easily defined 
markets, as well as the investment properties already accounted for previously, 
may be assessed according to their fair value. These items are recorded using the 
same method that would be applied for IFRS financial statements. 

 
Exchange rate changes on investments made in foreign companies, for 

example, may be recorded in the fair value reserve. 
 

Other reserves 
 

Other reserves include  
 Reserve for invested unrestricted equity 

 Legal reserve 

 Funds stipulated in the articles of association or 

rules  

 Fair value reserve and 

 Other reserves 
 

Other reserves, which are unrestricted shareholders’ equity, also include the reserve 

for invested unrestricted equity (SVOP). 
 

In the reserve for invested unrestricted equity are recorded 
 

that part of the subscription price for shares that is not recorded under share 
capital according to the terms of the agreement establishing the company or 
the share issue decision,  

and is not recorded under liabilities according to the Auditing Act, and  
other shareholders’ equity investments that are not recorded in another fund, and the 
amount reduced for shareholders’ equity that is not used to cover losses of  
distribute funds. 

 
Retained earnings 

 
In this item are recorded retained earnings and losses from which paid dividends 

have been reduced. 
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Changes to the principles of financial statements and adjustments of mistakes 
concerning earlier financial years are recorded solely in this item (Accounting 
Standards Board, 1750/2005). 

 

Result for the financial period 
 

The result for the financial period according to the income statement in the official 
financial statements. Adjustments of the result made during financial statement 
analysis are taken into account in the balance sheet as adjustments to shareholders’ 
equity. 

 
Accumulated closing entries 

 
Closing entries are related to income arrangement for taxation, as well as to the 
restriction between maintaining accounting records and taxation. Legislation 
governing corporate taxation requires that adequate provision to that kept in 
taxation also be made on the same scale when keeping accounting records. The 
depreciation difference and voluntary provisions are recorded as closing entries. 

 
Adjustment 

 
An amount according to the corporate tax rate is transferred from depreciation 

difference and voluntary provisions to deferred tax liability. 
 

Taxation-based reserves 
 

An investment, operating or similar reserve may be made in the financial 
statements, the most common of which is the operating reserve. According to 
current tax legislation, the operating reserve covers self-employed persons and 
partnerships, but not limited liability companies. A change in taxation-based 
reserves is recorded in the income statement. 

 
A replacement reserve presented as an investment reserve can be established  

on the basis of insurance or other compensation for wasting fixed assets 
(movables and cars used in business travel) destroyed by fire or other incident 
causing damages,  

and on the basis of sale proceeds for office premises buildings or shares. 
 

A replacement reserve can be made when the monetary compensation or 
equivalent received exceeds the reducing balance according to the Business Tax 
act used in accounting records, i.e. a compensation profit results. 

 

Depreciation difference 
 

A depreciation difference results when more depreciation is reduced in taxation than in 
depreciation according to plan. A depreciation difference is thus the cumulative 
difference between accounting depreciation and depreciation according to plan. 
According to the Accounting Act (5:12.1), the company responsible for keeping 
accounting records may record depreciation in excess of that planned if there is a 
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taxation-based reason for it. Taxation-based reason refers to the possibility of affecting 
taxable income and the amount of tax with the entry. A depreciation difference may not 
be negative. A change in the depreciation difference is marked in the income statement. 

 
Adjustments to shareholders’ equity 

 
Adjustments to shareholders’ equity comprise those items that have been used to 
revise the official balance sheet’s asset items or debts in analysis. Adjustments are 
targeted directly to balance sheet items, skipping the income statement. 

 
Asset item adjustments become relevant when, for example, the following has been 
capitalised in the official balance sheet: 

 goodwill not linked to expectation of a result, or  
 other intangible assets without related income expectations or which cannot be 

capitalised is not possible within the framework of the applicable laws 
regulations.   

 
Adjustments to shareholders’ equity may also include:  
uncertain receivables,  
receivables from owners of partnerships,  

loan receivables in breach of the Limited Liability Companies Act 
(related party loans with no commercial justification),  
revaluations and changes to fair value shown to be unjustified, 
value adjustments to non-current assets, and 

depreciation adjustments. 
 

Uncertain receivables includes loan receivables from subsidiaries whose capital is 
lost, as well as those loan receivables and subordinated loan receivables that are 
unlikely to be redeemed.  
A reduction in the value of non-current assets becomes relevant when, for example, 
fair value clearly falls short of balance sheet value. For example, a reduction in 
value should be made on shares in subsidiaries shown to be worthless. 

 
Adjustment to shareholders’ equity may also be positive if the fair value of non-
current assets is significantly higher than the balance sheet value. The balance 
sheet value of non-current assets is adjusted by the same amount. 
  

Liabilities 
 

Liabilities should be presented in the balance sheet as long-term and short-term 
liabilities. Long-term liabilities are debt or a part thereof that falls due in more than 
a year’s time. Debt that falls due in no more than one year’s time is a short -term 
liability. Instalments on loans to be paid in the following financial year are 
separated from long-term debts and entered as a corresponding short-term liability 
item when compiling financial statements. 

 
Provisions, long-term and short- term debts from the official balance sheet, as 
well as the stock of leasing liabilities from outside the balance sheet, all belong 
under liabilities in the revised balance sheet. 
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Intermediate financial instruments 

 
Intermediate financial instruments include convertible bonds, bonds with warrants 
and profit participating loans, among others. All of the aforementioned 
instruments are recorded in official financial statements under liabilities, in spite 
of the fact that they have characteristics of both shareholders’ equity and 
liabilities. In addition to the Accounting Act, capital loans are regulated by the 
Limited Liability Companies Act, and the procedure for dealing with it in financial 
statement analysis is presented separately. 

 
Adjustment (does not apply to capital loans) 

 
Intermediate financial instruments that can be seen as equity loans are transferred 
to own funds in the adjusted balance sheet. It is not possible to unambiguously 
specify in which case intermediate financial instruments are revised as 
shareholders’ equity; rather, each examination must be made on a case-by-case 
basis. When considering categorising an intermediate financial instrument as part 
of shareholders’ equity, at least the following requirements should be met: 
 it is unsecured, 
 other loans take preference over it,  
 no obligation to pay interest, 
 no specified repayment term. 

 
Capital loans 

 
According to Chapter 12 of the Limited Liability Companies Act, a capital loan is 
a loan that is subordinate to all other debts in the liquidation and bankruptcy of the 
company. In addition, a capital loan is unsecured and its redemption is bound to the 
differential between the moment of payment of unrestricted shareholders’ equity 
and capital loans, and the last approved balance sheet.  
 
A capital loan that meets the aforementioned conditions is a debt item and, 
according to a statement by the Accounting Standards Board (1787/2006) is 
recorded as a separate item under liabilities in the debtor’s balance sheet. The 
Accounting Act which entered into force in 2016 has however made it possible 
to record a capital loan as a separate item under shareholders’ equity if the 
capital loan complies with the IFRS standards. In its self-imposed statement 
(1950/2016), the Accounting Standards Board emphasizes the non-preferred 
nature of the recorded capital loan, the lack of due date, and limiting the 
distribution of income to what has been otherwise provided for regarding asset-
sharing. 

 
Instalments and interest on a capital loan can be paid to the creditor only insofar as 
the combined total of the company’s unrestricted shareholders’ equity and all 
capital loans exceeds the accrued loss as specified in the most recent balance sheet. 
If interest as specified in the terms of the loan cannot be paid, it is deferred for 
immediate payment under the next financial statements that meet the payment 
conditions, and that way unpaid interest should be presented in the notes to the 
financial statements as an interest liability external to the balance sheet. 
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Although capital loans are always recorded under liabilities in financial statements, 
they are counted either partially or fully as shareholders’ equity in shareholders’ 
equity calculations of loss of capital as specified in the Finnish Companies Act 
(20:23.2). Consequently, capital loans are used to cover retained and accrued losses 
in shareholders’ equity. 

 
Adjustment 

 
A capital loan recorded under liabilities is revised as shareholders’ equity 
according to the aforementioned principles only to the extent that accrued losses 
are covered and restricted shareholders’ equity is retained in shareholders’ 
equity. The remainder of the capital loan is left under liabilities. 

 
If the balance sheet’s shareholders’ equity is negative, a capital loan is moved 
to shareholders’ equity to the extent that no more than the amount of restricted 
shareholders’ equity is recorded as shareholders’ equity in the balance sheet.  
Even though the balance sheet’s shareholders’ equity is not negative but it is 
less than restricted shareholders’ equity in total, a subordinated loan is moved 
to shareholders’ equity to the extent that no more than the amount of restricted 
shareholders’ equity is recorded as shareholders’ equity in the balance sheet. 

 
If, on account of its genuine nature, a capital loan is equivalent to shareholders’ 

equity, in analysis it is transferred either in part or in full to shareholders’ equity. This 

procedure is followed when, for example, the capital loan is restricted to a company 

via a loan agreement for predetermined and sufficiently long period of time. 
 

The instalments of a repayment plan for a subordinated loan that fall due over the 

following financial year are left unrevised in shareholders’ equity. 
 

When transferred to shareholders’ equity, a capital loan improves that company’s 

equity ratio when undergoing a solvency inspection. 

 

Loans from financial institutions 
 

Loans from financial institutions may be loans from either domestic or foreign 

credit institutions, finance companies, special credit institutions or insurance firms. 
 

The official balance sheet’s bonds and convertible bonds are also combined in this 
item. Bonds are, for example, bond loans or debenture loans. Convertible bonds are 
either in part or in full convertible into company shares. 

 
According to the Auditing Act, debts denominated in foreign currencies are 
converted into Finnish currency at the exchange rate on the balance sheet 
date. Possible exchange rate losses and profits should be recorded as expenses 
and income in the income statement. 
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Loans from pension institutions 
 

Loans from pension institutions refer to insurance payments made to pension 

institutions reimbursed in the form of a loan, which are included in the 

official balance sheet under the item Loans from pension institutions. 
 

Advances received 
 

Advances received refers to payment received for service sales related to the 
primary operation before said services have been performed. Advances for work-
in-progress are not counted as debts in the calculation of key figures. 

 
Internal liabilities 

 
The item loans and other liabilities from group companies is formed by combining 
the following items from the official balance sheet:  
Loans from group companies, including long-term trade payables  

Loans from participating interest companies, including long-term trade 

payables 
 

In the calculation of key figures, these liabilities are assumed to be interest-bearing. 
 

Other long-term liabilities 
 

This item combines for the following from the official balance sheet: 
 Trade payables 
 Bills of exchange payable 
 Other loans and liabilities 
 Deferred income and accrued expenses 

 
The Other loans and liabilities group includes, for example, instalment-purchase 

liabilities. However, instalment-purchase liabilities to credit institutions are 

presented under liabilities to credit institutions. 
 

When calculating key figures, liabilities in this group are assumed to be 

interest-bearing. 
 

Deferred tax liabilities 
 

An amount according to the corporate tax rate is transferred from depreciation 
difference and voluntary provisions to deferred tax liability. A change in deferred 
taxes is not transferred to the income statement. 

 
Compulsory Provisions 

 
Compulsory provisions are expenses to which the company is committed, but 
which are not linked to an expectation of income corresponding to the expense. In 
the income statement, compulsory provisions are included in the relevant expense 
items, and are therefore not shown as changes in reserves. In provisions are 
combined the official balance sheet’s items Pension provisions, Tax provisions and 
Other compulsory provisions, which may result, for example, from renovations, 
unprofitable supply commitments, or incomplete legal proceedings. 
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As deferred income and accrued expenses are marked those expenses and losses, 

whose precise amount and date of realisation are known. 
 

Provisions are by nature usually non-interest-bearing, long-term liabilities. 
 

Leasing commitments 
 

Leasing funding is generally used for long-term leasing of machinery and 
equipment. Leasing commitments are leasing fees remaining at the balance sheet 
date, as well as those due to be paid in the following or later financial years. 
Leasing commitments are liabilities outside the balance sheet that are presented in 
attachments to the financial statements. Leasing commitments may also be 
recorded in the official balance sheet as previously recommended, in which case 
adjustment is not required. 

 
Adjustment 

 
Remaining leasing fees are added to the balance sheet’s assets column as Leasing 

assets and to the liabilities column as Leasing commitments. 

Short-term interest-bearing liabilities 
 

This item combines the following from the official balance sheet: 
 Bonds 
 Convertible bonds 
 Loans from financial institutions  
 Loans from pension institutions  
 Capital loans 
 Bills of exchange payable, and 
 Other liabilities (interest-bearing part) and 
 any Capital loans 

 
Adjustment 

 
Factoring credit, which is external to the balance sheet, is added to interest-bearing 

short-term liabilities. 
 

Advances received 
 

This item includes short-term advances received, which in key figure calculations 
are treated the same as long -term advances received. Advances for work-in-
progress are not counted as debts in the calculation of key figures. 

 
Trade payables 

 
Trade payables are primarily short-term debts caused by producer acquisitions. The 
company’s expense invoices and invoices from investments may also be included 
in trade payables. 
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Adjustment 
 

Possible instalment-purchase liabilities included in accounts payable are transferred 

to short-term, interest-bearing liabilities. 
 

Internal trade payables 
 

Internal trade payable combine accounts payable from items 
 Loans from group companies 
 Loans from participating interest companies 
 Internal accounts payable that are possibly included in the item Trade payables. 

 
Other internal interest-bearing liabilities 

 
This item combines interest-bearing loans from official balance sheet items 
 Loans from group companies 
 Loans from participating interest companies 

 
Other internal non-interest-bearing loans 

 
This item combines non-interest-bearing loans from official balance sheet items  
Loans from group companies  
Loans from participating interest companies 

 

Other short-term non-interest-bearing liabilities 
 

This group combines non-interest-bearing loans and deferred income and accrued 
expenses included in the official balance sheet item Other liabilities. Other non - 
interest-bearing loans are, for example, value added tax liabilities, withholding tax 
liabilities and income tax instalments, as well as dividend distribution liabilities. 

 
According to the Auditing Act, deferred income and accrued expenses are 
income advances and expense arrears. They are primarily non-interest-bearing. 
Accrued expenses are periodised items such as salaries, holiday pay debts, 
insurance fees, rents, interest and advance interest and rent income. 

 
If the exact amount and date of realisation of the expense or loss causing the 

liability is not known, the item is recorded in the balance sheet as provision. 

 

Liabilities outside the balance sheet 
 

Liabilities outside the balance sheet are those obligations and guarantees as well as 
substantial risks not linked to normal operations that are not shown as liabilities in 
the balance sheet. 

 
Obligations include leasing liabilities, which are added to balance sheet liabilities 

in accordance with Corporate Analysis’s established practice, unless they have 

already been recorded in the official balance sheet, as provided for by the current 

legislation. 
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Unpaid interest accrued on capital loans are presented as interest liabilities in the 
notes to the financial statements. If it is apparent on the basis of performance and 
the balance sheet’s shareholders’ equity that the liability to pay will occur in the 
following financial year, interest liability may be taken into account in the 
examination of debt. 

 
Rent liabilities are not generally included in an examination of debt, even if they 
are related to long-term payment obligations. The overall amount of rent liabilities 
in relation to the company’s other debts is often so large that their treatment as 
debts would immoderately reduce the equity ratio. The aforementioned also applies 
to so-called sale and lease back arrangements for real estate. In addition, current  
capitalisation of rent liabilities includes too much discretion, and realisation of the 

risk in full is unlikely. 
 

Substantial risks not linked to normal operations may be, for example, expenses 
and demands for compensation related to environmental protection, ongoing legal 
proceedings or additional taxation. Their impact on the company’s financial 
position and, thus, their being taken into account in analyses should be 
considered on a case-by-case basis. 
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4 AUDITOR’S REPORT AND SOLVENCY 
 

When analysing financial statements, one should also investigate the company’s 

auditor’s report, which may include information that is significant to the analysis. 
 

Regarding the distribution of funds, evaluation of a company’s solvency is also 
important. The Limited Liability Companies Act requires the company’s 
management to assess the company’s solvency during distribution of assets, 
which also protects the position of financiers and improves predictability. 

, 

4.1 AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 

According to the Auditing Act, the auditor’s report should include an opinion on  
 whether the financial statements give a true and fair view, in 

accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework, of the 
result of operations and the financial position of the corporation or 
foundation, 

 whether the financial statements comply with statutory requirements, 
 whether the applicable provisions have been complied with in the 

preparation of the management report, and  
 whether the information included in the management report for the 

financial year is consistent with the information included in the 
financial statements. 

 
According to the Auditing Act, the opinion expressed in the auditor’s report may 
be unqualified, qualified or adverse. The auditor can also refrain from expressing 
an opinion, but in this case a disclaimer of opinion must be expressed in the 
auditor’s report. 

 
Within the audit report, the auditor must provide any necessary additional 
information regarding matters that should be paid special attention to, as well as 
information regarding matters that may give rise to significant doubts about the 
audit subject’s ability to continue as a going concern. In addition, the audit report 
must also specify whether the auditor, based on the information received during 
the audit has observed material misstatements in the management report, and 
report on the nature of these misstatements. The auditor’s tasks do not include, and 
must not include, completing the financial statements prepared by the company’s 
management. 

 
An auditor’s report with a qualified audit opinion includes an opinion as required in 
the Auditing Act or special legislation, which deviates from an unqualified opinion. 
In addition, it may include a remark as specified in the Auditing Act reporting a 
liability for damages or violation of act applicable to the corporation or foundation 
or the articles of association resulting from the negligence of an accountable person. 
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Opinions that are not unqualified must always be justified. The justification is made 
in its essential parts in the auditor’s report, generally in its own chapter, which 
should be headed separately. In practice, other than unqualified opinions can be 
justified even more extensively and in greater detail in the audit memorandum. 
However, it should be noted that the audit memorandum can never replace the 
auditor’s report, nor is it a public document; rather, it is meant to be handled by the 
company’s Board of Directors. 

 
When analysing financial statements, attention must always be paid to the auditor’s 
report and possible further information contained therein. The mere auditor’s 
notation in the balance sheet does not suffice; rather, the auditor’s report is always 
part of the official financial statements. The auditor’s notation does not include a 
mention of a remark or further information, which is why it makes sense to read the 
auditor’s report when analysing financial statements. 

 

4.2 SOLVENCY DURING DISTRIBUTION OF ASSETS 
 

Distribution of assets must be based on approved and audited financial statements. 
In addition, the distribution must take into account substantial changes in the 
company’s financial position following the completion of financial statements. A 
reduction in shareholders’ equity that takes place after the end of the financial year 
reduces the amount available for asset distribution. 

 
According to Chapter 13, Section 2 of the Limited Liability Companies Act, 
dividends or any other funds may not be distributed if it is known or should be 
known at the time of the decision that the company is insolvent, or that the 
distribution will cause the insolvency. The solvency test applies to all cases of asset 
distribution, and not simply dividend distribution and distribution of funds. 
Preservation of solvency must also be considered when the company is acquiring 
or redeeming its own shares, or in connection with a reduction in share capital. 
Distribution of assets is forbidden if the company does not have the needed cash. 

 
The primary purpose of a solvency test is to prevent opportunistic behaviour on the 
part of shareholders at the expense of creditors. If shareholders were able to 
distribute the company’s assets in a way that would jeopardise the redemption of 
creditors’ receivables, they would breach the ranking of claims specified by limited 
liability company law. The solvency test therefore strengthens protection of 
creditors. 

 
The test applied to distribution of assets is in two parts. The balance sheet test is 
used to test the possibility of asset distribution, such as dividend distribution and 
unrestricted shareholders’ equity fund distribution (Limited Liability Companies 
Act, Chapter 13, Section 5). The solvency test is used to ensure that the distribution 
of assets under consideration does not jeopardise the company’s solvency. 
 
Unless otherwise specified in Chapter 13, Section 2 of the Limited Liability 
Companies Act, concerning the solvency of a company, a company may distribute 
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unrestricted shareholders’ equity from which assets not distributed in accordance 
with the articles of association and the amount recorded in the balance sheet as 
development expenses under the Accounting Act have been subtracted (Limited 
Liability Companies Act, 13:5). 
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5 CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
 

5.1 STRUCTURE OF THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
 

In the cash flow statement, the adequacy of funding in the order of priority of 
expenses is examined. The cash flow statement indicates how much money has 
come to the company, and how much of it has been used during the financial year. 
Sales revenue is seen as first covering operating expenses, followed by financial 
expenses and taxes and finally investments, loan instalments and asset distribution. 

 
The cash flow statement, which is presented in subtraction form, indicates how 
income from sales have sufficed in covering expenses, and to what extent funding 
has been achieved using shareholders’ equity or debt. If income has been greater 
than expenses, the cash flow statement indicates how the resulting surplus has been 
used. 

 
The cash flow statement is prepared as a combination of the adjusted income 
statement and the official balance sheet and notes. The adjusted income statement 
is used so as to achieve as comparable and accurate a view as possible of the cash 
flow generated by the company’s primary business operation. The adjusted balance 
sheet cannot be used in cash flow statement because adjustments made in financial 
statement analysis do not affect cash flow. 

 
The cash flow statement begins with the operating profit after depreciation 
presented in the adjusted income statement, without any possible salary 
adjustments. Thus, items re-entered as extraordinary items in the adjusted income 
statement, for example, are also treated as extraordinary items in the cash flow 
statement. 

 
Because the income statement is prepared on the accrual basis, incomes and 

expenses in the cash flow statement must be changed to cash form. 
 

The cash flow statement presented below is also suitable without modification for 

an operation-specific income statement. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 
55 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
 

Operating result after depreciation  
+Depreciation and reductions in value  

= Operating margin  
 

-/+ Increase/decrease in operating working capital 
+/- Increase/decrease in compulsory provisions   

= Net operating cash flow  
+Financial income 
-Financial expenses 
-Taxes 
+/-   Extraordinary income/expenses 

 
= Cash after financing activities  

-/+ Investments (net) 
-/+ Increase/decrease in investments and long-term receivables   

= Cash after investments  
+/-   Increase/decrease in long-term liabilities 
+/- Increase/decrease in short-term interest-bearing liabilities 
+/- Increase/decrease in capital loans 
+/- Chargeable increase/decrease in shareholders’ equity (excluding 

dividend distribution)  
- Dividend distribution/private drawings 
-/+ Increase/decrease in loan receivables   

= Change in liquid assets   
+ Liquid assets at the beginning of the 

financial year 
- Liquid assets at the end of the financial year 

 
= 0  

 
 

Operating result after depreciation 
 

The cash flow statement uses the operating result after depreciation from the 

adjusted profit and loss income statement, without any salary adjustments. 
 

Operating margin 
 

The operating margin is calculated by adding Depreciation and reductions in value 
to the operating result. The operating margin depicts the profitability and result of 
the company’s business before depreciation and financial items. Because the 
income statement is prepared on an accrual basis, the operating margin must be 
adjusted with a change to operating working capital and compulsory provisions in 
order to clarify the cash flow generated by the primary operation, i.e. the net 
operating cash flow. 

 
Operating working capital 
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The increase/decrease in operating working capital is calculated as follows:  
+ Inventories at the beginning  
-Inventories at the end  
+ Total short-term receivables at the beginning (*  
-Total short-term receivables at the end (*  
+ Long-term trade receivables at the beginning  
- Long-term trade receivables at the end  
- Short-term non-interest-bearing debts at the beginning  
+Short-term non-interest-bearing debts at the end  
- Long-term trade payables at the beginning  
+ Long-term trade payables at the end  
- Long-term advances received at the beginning  
+Long-term advances received at the end  
=Increase/decrease in operating working capital  

 
(* Without loan receivables and share issue receivables 

 
Loan receivables and share issue receivables are subtracted from short-term 
receivables because they are taken into account in the cash flow statement as a 
separate item under the section Increase/decrease in loan receivables. 

 
Financial income and expenses 

 
Financial income is interest, share and other financial income as well as profit on 

exchange. 
 

Financial expenses include interest and other financial expenses as well as foreign 
exchange losses. If, for example, acknowledged but as yet unpaid foreign exchange 
losses are recorded in financial expenses, the statement diverges in this regard from 
the cash flow principle. Correspondingly, an item appears under change in long - 
term liabilities which is not an increase or a decrease in debts according to cash 
flow principles. 

 
Financial income and expenses cannot be changed to comply with cash flow 
principles, because the accrued expenses and trade receivables linked to them are 
usually not known. 

 
Taxes 

 
Taxes are direct taxes from the adjusted income statement. Any extraordinary 

income and expense taxes are presented under extraordinary income and expenses. 
 

Extraordinary income and expenses 
 

The Extraordinary income and expenses item includes the extraordinary income 
and expenses for an adjusted profit and loss account, their taxes and group 
contributions. The item is placed before cash after financing activities in the cash 
flow statement. That way they are included when examining the adequacy of cash 
flow financing when funding investments. 
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Investments in tangible and intangible assets (net) 

 
The item includes investments and divestments in intangible and tangible assets 
according to the official balance sheet. Revaluations made or cancelled during the 
financial year do not constitute use of cash nor sources of cash. 

 
Investments are calculated as follows: 

+ Non-current intangible and tangible assets at the end of 
the financial year 

- Revaluations included in the above at the end of the financial year 
+Depreciation and reductions in value performed 
- Non-current intangible and tangible 

assets at the beginning of the financial year 
+ Revaluations included in the above at the beginning of the financial 

year  
= Investments (net) 

 

Change in investments and long-term receivables 
 

Changes in investments and long-term receivables are presented as a single item in 
cash flow, without change in long term trade receivables and loan receivables. The 
influence of revaluations must be eliminated. 

 
Changes in investments and long-term receivables are calculated as follows:  

+ Investments and long-term receivables at the end of the financial 
year 

- Revaluations included in shares at the end of the financial year 
+Reductions in value of investments held as non-current assets 
- Investments and long-term receivables at the beginning of the 

financial year 
+ Revaluations included in shares at the beginning of the financial year  
=Increase/decrease in investments and long-term receivables  

 
Change in long-term liabilities 

 
Changes in liabilities are presented in net form, as the difference between loan 
increases and paid amortizations. Change in debts may be distorted by 
acknowledged but not yet realised gains or losses on foreign exchange, which are 
not cash inflows or outflows. A similar mistake may be included in financial 
expenses and income in the income statement. 

 
Change in short-term interest-bearing liabilities 

 
Change in short-term interest-bearing liabilities is calculated as follows:  

- Bonds at the beginning 
+Bonds at the end 
- Convertible bonds at the beginning 
+Convertible bonds at the end 
- Loans from financial institutions at the beginning 
+Loans from financial institutions at the end 
- Loans from pension institutions at the beginning 
+Loans from pension institutions at the end 



 
58 

 
 
 
 
 
 

- Capital loan at the beginning 
+ Capital loan at the end 
- Bills of exchange payable at the beginning 
+Bills of exchange payable at the end 
- Interest-bearing debts to group companies at the beginning 
+Interest-bearing debts to group companies at the end 
- Interest-bearing debts from participating interest companies at 

the beginning 
+ Interest-bearing debts from participating interest companies 

at the end 
+ Other interest-bearing debts at the beginning 

Other interest-bearing debts at the end  
= Increase/decrease in short-term interest-bearing liabilities 

 
 

Change in capital loan 
 

Capital loans are presented as a separated item in the official balance sheet and 
they are treated here. If part of a capital loan that falls due in the following 
financial year is transferred to short-term debts, the calculated change is visible in 
the balance sheet as both a reduction in capital loans and an increase in short-
term debts. 

 
Chargeable change in shareholders’ equity 

 
A change in shareholders’ equity is treated here as additional investments of shares 
or other equity capital. Effected or cancelled revaluations do not constitute a 
change in shareholders’ equity affecting cash flow. Change in the fair value reserve 
is eliminated as the circumstances permit. 

 
Change in loan receivables 

 
Changes in loan receivables and share issue receivables are included in this item. 
Consequently, these receivables are situated below cash after investments as is the 
case with similar debt items. 

 
Change in liquid assets 

 
This item includes change in cash in hand and at banks, and in financial securities. 
A change in liquid assets indicates whether the cash flow for the financial year has 
been in surplus or deficit. 
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5.2 ACCRUED ITEMS IN THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
 

The adequacy of cash flow financing for various uses is measured using the net 
operating cash flow, cash after financing activities, and cash after investments. 
They indicate at what stage cash flow financing has stopped and when the 
company has been forced to use shareholders’ equity or debt to cover its costs. 

 
The long- term aim of any successful business activity is the sufficiency of 
internally generated operational cash flow. During separate financial periods the 
different surpluses can alternate strongly. Very low or negative surpluses may 
contribute to the usage of cash flow reserves generated during the previous 
financial years to cover the expenses of the financial year in. 

 
 

Cash flow from operating activities 
 

The cash flow from operating activities reveals the amount of sales revenue 
remaining when operating expenses with short-term effect are paid. The net 
operating cash flow should be continuously positive so that the company can be 
deemed profitable and its liquidity can be considered to be in order. 

 
Even a profitable company may exceptionally run a negative net operating cash 
flow when it grows aggressively and growth in working capital is bound to cash 
flow. The situation may be the same when delivery and invoicing of a project-
like order take place near the balance sheet date. 

 
Cash after financing activities 

 
Cash after financing activities indicates how the company has been able to manage 
its operating expenses during the financial year. A positive figure means that the 
company is at least in part able to carry out its investments with cash flow 
financing and possibly also make payments towards its debts. When net cash after 
financing activities is continuously negative, the company’s indebtedness grows. 

 
Cash flow after investments 

 
A positive figure for cash flow after investments means that income from the 
business operation has sufficed for investments in tangible and intangible assets as 
well as in investment assets. Change in liabilities and shareholders’ equity and in 
liquid assets following cash flow after investments shows how a possible shortfall 
is covered, or how a positive accrual is used. 
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5.3 INTERPRETING THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
 

Simply examining surpluses is not enough when interpreting a cash flow statement. 
It must also be established whether the company has sought in some way to 
temporarily improve cash flow. This can be achieved by, for example, increasing 
trade payables, accrued expenses and other short-term debts. In some cases, 
increasing the efficacy of collection of trade receivables can increase cash flow 
payment income. 

 
When evaluating the company’s operating conditions, one should have access to 3– 
5 years of cash flow statements. By examining several years in succession, the 
overall view gained is more reliable and extraordinary fluctuations balance out. In 
order to balance annual variations, running averages can be calculated for a three-
year period, for example. 

 
It is difficult to give numeric target values for the cash flow statement’s surpluses, 
but direction of development can be deduced from them. The need for cash flow 
financing also depends on the company’s investment needs and the loan repayment 
situation. 

 
The cash flow generally reacts more rapidly to operating changes than the 
traditional income statement. When the profitability trend or operations contract 
turns downwards, calculation of the accrual-based result usually still gives a 
relatively good view of the state of the company, even though excessively large 
growth in inventories binds funding. The cash flow statement can nevertheless 
show that cash flows have reduced and it has perhaps been necessary to seek 
funding by delaying the repayment terms for trade payables and other short-term 
debts. 
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6 STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FINANCIAL POSITION 
 

The main aim of the statement of changes in financial position is to give 
information for evaluating how the company has achieved a cash flow, and how it 
has used the acquired cash flow. According to the Accounting Ordinance, 
operating, investment and financial cash flows must be evident from the statement 
of changes in financial position. The Accounting Standards Board issued general 
guidelines on the preparation of statements of changes in financial position on 30 
January 2007. 

 
The most significant difference in terms of the cash flow statement presented above 
is that in the statement of changes in financial position, cash flows are presented as 
their own items. The cash flow statement is presented in the subtraction form. In 
addition, the cash flow statement uses items from the adjusted income statement. 
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7 KEY PROFITABILITY RATIOS 
 

Profitability depicts the operation’s financial result and is a basic requirement of 
a sustained operation. Profitability can be measured in absolute or relative terms. 
Absolute profitability is simply measured as the difference between net sales and 
expenses, i.e. the profit. Relative profitability depicts the profit’s ratio with regard 
to capital invested in the company. The profitability ratios presented later can be 
calculated if the financial statements include the necessary information. 

 

7.1 STRUCTURE OF PROFIT 
 

In the key ratios calculated from the income statement, intermediate results are 
compared to the item total operating income, because expenses corresponding to 
other operating income are also included in the income statement’s primary 
operating expenses. 

 
In the income statement formula specified in the Accounting Ordinance, operating 

expenses are not divided into variable and fixed. 

 

7.1.1 Gross margin (Gross profit) 
 

In wholesale and retail trade, gross margin is the most commonly used key ratio. In 
these lines of business, gross margin is calculated by reducing purchases of 
supplies adjusted by change in inventories of consumables from net sales. 

 
+ Net sales 
- Purchases during 

the financial year 
- Initial inventories 
+ Final inventories 

= Gross margin 
 
 

Gross margin -% = 
Gross margin 

⋅ 100 
Net sales   

 
The gross margin of companies practicing manufacturing activities cannot be 

calculated without additional information. 
 

7.1.2 Operating margin (EBITDA) 
 

Operating margin is not presented as an intermediate result in the official income 
statement. Operating margin in the adjusted income statement is calculated by 
adding depreciation and reduction in value that come before the operating result, to 
it. 

 
Operating margin = Operating result after depreciation + depreciations and 

reductions in value. 
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Operating margin-% = 
Operating margin 

⋅ 100 
Total operating income   

 
The operating margin shows the company’s operating result before depreciations 
and financial items. Comparisons of the operating margin are only meaningful 
between companies in the same line of industry. 

 
Even within the same line of business, the comparability of this key figure is 
undermined by the fact that companies either own their tools of production 
themselves or have rented them either in whole or in part. In the former case, 
expenses incurred by the company are visible in the income statement as 
depreciation and financial expenses after operating profit, whereas in the latter 
case, rental expenses are included in other operating expenses before operating 
profit. 

 
There is no generally valid target value for the operating margin. When evaluating 
the adequacy of the operating margin level, one should take into account not only 
the line of business, but also the tangible and intangible asset depreciation 
requirements, and the amount of financial expenses on liabilities. 

 
In most cases, the operating margins of different industries fall within the 

following ranges: 
 

manufacturing  5–20 % 
commerce 2–10 % 
services  5–15 % 

 
 

7.1.3 Operating result (EBIT) 
 

The operating result is an intermediate result in the income statement which 
deviates from the official income statement’s operating profit (loss) by the amount 
of adjustments made during analysis. Such adjustments may include, among 
others, a deferred adjustment to entrepreneur’s salary and transfers from other 
operating income and expenses to extraordinary items. 

 
The operating result shows how much of the primary net sales is left 

before financial items and taxes. 
 

Operating result -%   = 
Operating result 

⋅ 100 
Total operating income   

 
The key ratio is suitable for following the development of a single company, for 
comparison within a line of business and even for comparison between different 
lines of business. 

 
When evaluating operating result expressed as a percentage, the following 

benchmark values can be used: 
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above 10 % good 
5   – 10 % satisfactory 
below 5 % poor 

 
 

7.1.4 Net result 
 

The net result is calculated by adding financial income from the income statement 

to, and subtracting financial expenses and taxes from, the operating result. 
 

Net result = Operating result + financial income - financial expenses - taxes 
 

Net result-%   = 
Net result 

⋅ 100 
Total operating income   

 
In order for an operation to be considered profitable, the company’s net result must 
be positive. The sufficiency and required minimum level of the net result are 
determined according to, among others things, the attempts to strengthen the 
capital structure and dividend distribution targets.  

 

7.1.5 Financial result 
 

Financial result is calculated by adding depreciation and reduction in value reduced 

before operating result. 
 

Financial result = Net profit + depreciation and reductions in value 
 

Financial result-% = 
Financial result 

⋅ 100 
Total operating income   

 
Financial result should suffice for loan amortizations, investments financed with 
internally generated funds, increase in working capital, and asset distribution to 
shareholders’ equity, so it must exceed zero even over short-term periods. 
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7.2 RETURN ON CAPITAL 
 

7.2.1 Return on assets (ROA) 
 
 

Net result + financial expenses + taxes (12 months) 

Return on assets,% = The adjusted balance sheet’s total averaged for the ⋅
 100

 
financial year = total capital  

 
Financial expenses 

 
= Interest and other financial expenses + foreign 

exchange losses 
 

If the company simultaneously has considerable financial income and financial 
expenses, it is clear that this is a case of pass through financing. In this case, the 
aforementioned financial items can be recalculated in net form. This stops the 
financial items from affecting the return on assets at a double rate. For micro-
undertakings, it is possible to present financial items in net form in the official 
financial statements. 

 
The adjusted balance sheet’s total is calculated as follows: 

 
+ Balance sheet’s 

shareholders’ equity  
+ Depreciation difference (*  
+ Taxation-based reserves (* 
- Adjustments of 

shareholders’ equity  
= Adjusted 

shareholders’ equity   
+ Long-term liabilities  
+ Deferred tax liabilities  
+ Compulsory provisions  
+ Leasing liabilities  
+ Short-term liabilities 

= Adjusted liabilities 
 

+ Adjusted shareholders’ equity  
+ Adjested liabilities   
= Adjusted balance sheet total 

 
(* subtracted by deferred tax liabilities  
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The key figure’s balance sheet items are calculated as averages for the beginning 
and end of the financial year. If the adjusted shareholders’ equity of the financial 
year is negative, overall capital is nevertheless at least as large as liabilities. If the 
company’s financial year is not the ordinary 12 months, the income percentage is 
changed into 12-month form by dividing the key figure indicator by the length of 
the financial year in months and multiplying the result by 12.  
The key figure constitutes a comparison of the result before financial expenses and 
taxes to all the capital committed to the company’s operation. The return on assets 
percentage is a measure of profitability that is unaffected by the company’s tax 
payment policy or the tax technique resulting from the type of company. The key 
figure measures the company’s ability to generate a result for all of the capital 
committed to the operation. The figure is more useful than return on invested 
capital expressed as a percentage, especially when it is not possible to establish the 
division between interest-bearing and non-interest-bearing debt. 

 
It may be difficult to compare key figures when different companies have used the 
opportunity to carry out revaluations in different ways. The return percentage will 
be lower for those companies that have carried out revaluations than for those that 
have only used acquisition values as the basis for balance sheet values. A 
comparison between different years for a single firm may also show 
inconsistencies for the year in which a revaluation has been implemented or 
cancelled. 

 
The following benchmark values can be given for return on assets: 

 

above 10 % good 
5   – 10 % satisfactory 
below 5 % poor 

 
 

7.2.2 Return on investment (ROI) 
 

 
Return on-  =  
investment-% 

 
 

Invested capital = 

 
 

Net result + financial expenses + taxes (12 months) ⋅ 100 
Average invested capital for the financial year  
 
Adjusted shareholders’ equity + invested interest-

bearing liabilities 
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Invested interest-bearing liabilities are calculated as follows: 
 

+ Capital loans 
+ Loans from financial institutions 
+ Loans from pension institutions 
+ Internal liabilities (long-term) 
+ Other long-term liabilities 
+ Short-term interest-bearing liabilities 
+ Other internal interest-bearing short-term 

loans  
= Invested interest-bearing liabilities 

 
So called 0-interest long-term loans are also invested capital.  

 
Invested capital is calculated as an average of the beginning and end of the 
financial year. If the financial year’s adjusted shareholders’ equity is negative, 
investment is nevertheless at least as large as invested liabilities. 

 
If the company’s financial year is not the ordinary 12 months, the return percentage 
should be changed into 12-month form by dividing the key figure indicator by the 
length of the financial year in months and multiplying the result by 12. 

 
The return on investment percentage measures relative profitability, which is 
income received by the company for invested capital requiring interest or other 
income.  
The comparability of the key figure may be weakened especially between different 
companies by a lack of available sufficient information for dividing liabilities into 
interest-bearing, or income-requiring, and non-interest-bearing capital. Large 
investments and revaluations also cause problems when evaluating the key figure’s 
development. 

 
The return on investment percentage can be seen as acceptable when it is at least as 
large as the average financial expense percentage paid on interest-bearing 
liabilities. 

 
7.2.3 Return on equity (ROE) 

 

 

Return on  = 
Net result (12 months) 

⋅ 100 
Adjusted average shareholders’ equity for the 

equity-%  

financial year 
 

  

 
The key figure’s balance sheet items are calculated as averages for the beginning 
and end of the season, and the net result is modified if necessary to corresponding 
to a twelve-month period. The key figure measures a company’s ability to produce 
added value for the capital invested in the company by its owners. 
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The target for the return on equity percentage is determined according to the return 
requirement set by the owners, which is substantially affected by the risk linked to 
the investment. The company must be able to generate a return for shareholders’ 
equity as well as for liabilities. Of capital return percentages, return on equity is the 
key figure affected most strongly by possible revaluations. 
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8 KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS 
 

The financing of a company can be roughly divided into two categories: debt 
finance and shareholders’ equity. In examining the financial position, it is 
essential to pay attention to the relationship between the two categories, and 
thus the flexibility of financing. In addition, financing can be further divided 
into short-term and long-term financing within the debt finance category. 
Typically, short-term financing is inflexible, and thus having a substantial 
portion of the company’s financing consist of short-term financing can expose 
the company to financial risks. The ratios that act as indicators of the financial 
position can be divided into static and dynamic ratios. As with profitability, 
the financial ratios presented later can be calculated if the financial statements 
include the necessary information. 
 

8.1 CAPITAL STRUCTURE 
 
 
 

In all capital structure key figures in which one component is from the income 
statement and another from the balance sheet, net sales is used as a reference 
figure. 

 
8.1.1 Equity ratio 

 

 

Equity ratio, % = Adjusted shareholders’ equity ⋅ 100 
 Adjusted balance sheet total – advances received  

 
In key figure calculations for the equity ratio, relative indebtedness and gearing, 
advances to be subtracted are short-term and long-term advances received that are 
related to unfinished work or projects. Such advances carry no repayment 
obligation under normal circumstances, but are removed from the balance sheet 
once the work is complete. 

 
The equity ratio measures the company’s solvency, the company’s ability to 
withstand losses and ability to meet its commitments over the long term. 
Revaluations of non-current assets affect the comparability of different years. 

 
As a result of the depreciation method used by company and the inflation, the fair 
values of non-current assets may deviate clearly from the balance sheet values of 
the date on which the assets were assessed. If fair values significantly exceed 
balance sheet values and the difference can be stated with certainty, the part of the 
value exceeding balance sheet value can be added to the balance sheets’ 
shareholders’ equity when calculating the equity ratio. When determining market 
value, one should be cautious with regard to investment grants, for example, 
because grants may limit the realisation of the assets. Non-current assets may also 
be overvalued in the balance sheet, in which case assets will have to be revaluated 
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downwards from the balance sheet value. The revaluations are therefore visible in 
the adjusted balance sheet. 

 
As the owners of a partnership are largely personally responsible for the company’s 

operation and debts, an equity ratio calculated using only the balance sheet 

information is not sufficient; rather, when evaluating funding structure, the private 

assets and debts of the owners who bear personal responsibility should also be 

taken into account as circumstances permit. 
 

The following benchmark values can be given for the equity ratio: 
 

above 40 % good 
20  – 40 % satisfactory 
below 20 % poor 

 
8.1.2 Relative indebtedness 

 

Debt-%   = 
Adjusted balance sheet’s debt – advances received ⋅ 100 
Net sales (12 months)  

  

 
High relative indebtedness requires the company to correspondingly have a strong 
operating result in order to manage its liability obligations. The figure can only 
reliably be compared amongst companies within the same line of business. The key 
figure of indebtedness can also be fairly reliably calculated using information in the 
unadjusted financial statements. 

 
Although the figure is specific to each line of business, in manufacturing 

companies the following may be considered benchmark values: 
 

below 40 % good 
40  – 80 % satisfactory 
above 80 % poor 

 
Net debt-% 

 
 Adjusted balance sheet’s debt – advances received –  
Net debt-% = cash and financial securities ⋅ 100 
 Net sales (12 months)  

 
Net debt-% gives a more accurate picture of a company’s debt burden than relative 
indebtedness when it is clear that the company has plenty of liquid financial assets 
that could be used to pay off debts. Liquid financial assets include cash funds, bank 
receivables, financial securities and other assets that are easily convertible into 
cash. 

 
If the company has liquid financial assets other than cash and financial securities, 

they shall also be taken into account when calculating the net debt ratio. 
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8.1.3 Net gearing 
 

The key figure indicator includes liabilities on which interest should be paid. 
Consequently, capital loans are included, even if they are temporarily non-interest-
bearing. 

 

Net gearing = 
Interest-bearing liabilities – cash and financial securities 
Adjusted shareholders’ equity   

 
Interest-bearing liabilities are calculated as follows: 

 
+ Long-term liabilities without advances received 
+ Short-term interest-bearing liabilities 
+ Other internal interest-bearing loans  
= Interest-bearing liabilities  

 
When the key figure’s value is below 1, it can be considered good. If the figure’s 
being in minus is due to negative shareholders’ equity, the key figure’s value is 
poor. 

 
 

8.1.4 Working capital and efficiency ratios 
 

Working capital reveals the amount of capital invested in a company’s continuing 
operations. The need for working capital is covered by partly short-term, partly 
long-term liabilities or shareholders’ equity. 

 
When evaluating working capital and its items, it should be remembered that they 
depict the situation at the balance sheet date, and may differ considerably from the 
year’s average figures. 
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Working capital is calculated as follows: 
 

+ Inventories 
+ Trade receivables 
+ Internal trade receivables 
+ Percentage of completion 

receivables 
- Trade payables 
- Internal trade payables 
- Advances received  
= Working capital  

 
Advances received are short-term and long-term advance payments on unfinished 

work or projects. 
 

Working capital and its components are compared to net sales when calculating 

key figures, because working capital items are dependent on net sales. 
 

Percentage of completion receivables, which are included in other receivable, are 
unfinished work in the assessment of working capital. Advances received are 
included in liabilities or they are recorded in net form with percentage of 
completion receivables. In the latter case, percentage of completion receivables 
recorded in the balance sheet do not give an accurate picture of the extent of 
percentage of completion, even if the method does not distort the working capital 
assessment. 

 
Working capital-% 

 

Working capital-% = 
Working capital 

⋅ 100 
Net sales (12 months)   

 
The ratio of working capital to net sales required by the operation largely depends 
on the company’s line of business. When issuing predictions, for example, the 
working capital percentage gives a rather good picture of what funding needs will 
be caused by an expansion of the operation. 

 
Working capital can be analysed in greater detail by calculating the turnover times 
of its different components. Turnover times are affected by the seasonal nature and 
possible financial statement arrangements of the line of business. 

 

Collection period of trade receivables, days 
 

Trade receivable = 365 ⋅ (trade receivables + internal trade receivables) 
collection period, days Net sales (12 months) 
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The collection period for trade receivables indicates how long sales revenue is 

receivable before it arrives as cash in the company’s cash flow. 
 

Trade receivables also include items that are not net sales (for example, value 
added tax, excise duty, transportation and asset sales revenue). Real collection 
periods determined on the basis on sales revenue are therefore somewhat shorter 
than those calculated in the aforementioned way. If net sales include percentage of 
completion, the collection period for trade receivables according to the key figure 
appears shorter than the real collection period. 

 
Payment period of trade payables, days 

 
The payment period of trade payables indicates the extent to which a company has 
used the average payment time to pay its trade payables. Payment periods can be 
lengthened by invoices caused by other operating costs included in trade payables 
as well as investment costs. 

 

Payment period = 365 ⋅ (Trade payables + internal trade payables) 
of trade payables,  Purchases + outsources services (12 months) 
days   

 
Inventories-% 

 
The turnover time of inventories cannot be calculated without more detailed 
information about the company’s cost structure. Capital tied to inventories can be 
analysed by calculating the ratio between inventories and net sales. 

 
 Inventories without advances paid  
Inventories-% = + percentage of completion receivables ⋅ 100 
 Net sales (12 months)  

 
Turnover for Inventories, days 

 
Commercial sector companies do not have variable manufacturing costs, so their 

turnover time for inventories can be calculated as follows: 
 

Turnover = 365 ⋅ Inventories of raw materials and supplies 
for inventories, days Materials and supplies used (12 months) 

 
 

8.1.5 Net working capital 
 

Net working capital indicates how much of inventories and financial assets is 

covered by shareholders’ equity and long-term liabilities. 
 

Net working capital is calculated as follows: 
 

+ Inventories 
+ Financial assets 
- Short-term liabilities  
=Net working capital  
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Financial assets = Short-term receivables + cash and financial securities 

 
Net working capital-% 

 

Net working capital-% = 
Net working capital 

⋅ 100 
Net sales (12 months)   

 
 
8.2 FINANCIAL ADEQUACY 

 
Liquidity refers to a company’s ability to manage all of its payments on time and in 
the most economical way possible. Utilisation of cash discounts and an unused 
checking account limit usually indicate strong liquidity. Poor liquidity is instead 
indicated by overdue payments, paid penalty fees and use of expensive additional 
financing. 

 
A company’s liquidity position can, at the same time, be both a dynamic and a 
static concept. A dynamic liquidity measures the amount of internally generated 
cash in meeting the payment obligations. A static liquidity, on the other hand, 
measures how the quickly realizable assets at the disposal of the company at any 
particular time, could be used in servicing the obligations arising from short-
term liabilities. 

 
 

8.2.1 Quick ratio 
 

Quick ratio indicates whether a company would be able to manage its short-term 

debts using only its financial assets. 
 

  Financial assets – percentage of completion 

Quick ratio = 
receivables 
Short-term liabilities –   

  short-term advances received 
 

Advances received are short-term advance payments on work-in-progress or 

projects. 
 

If financial assets include a deferred tax receivable resulting from confirmed losses, 

this is subtracted from financial assets when calculating the key figure. 
 

The following benchmark values can be given for the Quick ratio: 
 

above 1 good 
0.5 – 1 satisfactory 
below 0.5 poor 
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8.2.2 Current ratio 
 

With the current ratio, the perspective of examination is somewhat longer. There 
the idea is that inventories, too, could be realised in order to meet short -term 
obligations. When interpreting the key figure, it is worth remembering the 
uncertainty linked to assessing inventories. 

 

Current ratio = 
Inventories + financial assets 
Short-term liabilities   

 
Deferred tax receivables are handled in the same way as they are handled in 

the Quick ratio. 
 

Both the Quick and the Current ratio are static liquidity figures, i.e. they measure 
the situation at the balance sheet date. Liquidity during the financial year may 
fluctuate to a large degree. The key figures’ usefulness may also be weakened by 
unvalued items included in financial assets, such as accounts receivable that must 
be interpreted as credit losses. 

 
The following benchmark values can be given for the Current ratio: 

 

above 2 good 
1  – 2 satisfactory 
below 1 poor 

 
 

 
8.2.3 Repayment period of debt, years 

 
The ability to repay liabilities is measured with the help of financial result. 

 

Liabilities = 
Invested liabilities at the end of the financial 

year 
repayment time, years 

Financial result (12 months)  
 

The basis of comparison for the key figure’s value is found in the average loan 

time for the company’s debts. 
 
Debt service coverage ratio 

 
The loan repayment margin compares the financial adequacy of the earnings for 

meeting liability obligations. 
 

Debt service Financial result + financial expenses 
coverage ratio = Financial expenses + instalments on long-term loans 

 
The key figure measures the adequacy of funding only from one perspective: the 
repayment of liabilities. The loan repayment margin is generally calculated using 
future forecasts. If it is applied to an examination of the past, one must use those 
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loan repayments that would have fallen due according to the terms of the loan, and 
not just those that were actually paid. 

 
A more reliable picture of the company’s ability to repay its loans is gained by 
examining the key figure over a period of several years.  
The following benchmark values can be given for the loan repayment margin. 

 

above 2 good 
1   – 2 satisfactory 
below 1 poor 

 
Interest-bearing debts/operating margin (IBD/EBITDA) 

 
 

Interest-bearing debt / 
Adjusted balance sheet’s interest-bearing debt + capital 

loans 
operating margin   = 

Operating margin (12 months)  

 
The key figure indicates the theoretical repayment time of loans in years if all 
operating profit could be used to repay the loans. Consequently, capital loans are 
also included in interest-bearing debts, even if they are temporarily non-interest-
bearing. The key figure also illustrates the company’s capital structure. In capital-
intensive industries such as real estate, the key figure’s values can be quite high. 

 
Financial expenses coverage ratio 

 
Financial expenses  = Financial result + financial expenses 
repayment margin Financial expenses 

 
The financial expenses repayment margin examines a company’s ability to meet 
payments of interest and other liability expenses. When the key figure is below 1, 
the company is not able to pay its financial expenses using cash flow financing. 
 

Operating margin + dividend income + interest 
Interest coverage =

 income + other financial income 

Financial expenses 
 
 

The key figure measures adequacy of operating profit and financial income 
together for covering financial expenses. In company-specific terms, it pays to take 
into account the relative proportion of dividends received and other financial 
income and their continuation. 

 
 

8.2.4 Cash flow financing of investments  

Cash flow financing of = Cash after financing activities 
⋅ 100 

investments, % Investments in non-current assets (net)  
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The key figure measures the adequacy of funding arriving from both the primary 

operation and from extraordinary income for covering investment expenses. 
 

If financial result is used in the key figure’s numerator, change in working capital 

should also be added to the denominator. 
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9 OTHER KEY RATIOS 
 

9.1 CHANGE IN NET SALES 
 

The volume of business operations is measured with net sales and invoicing. 
Changes in these figures mainly result from the growth or reduction in the 
operations. 

 
Change in = Change in net sales (12 months) 

⋅ 100 
net sales, % Net sales in the previous financial year (12 months)  

 
This percentage should be interpreted in relation to the trend in inflation. The 
change percentage may also be affected by the company’s adopting the percentage 
of completion method. 

 

9.2 NET SALES / EMPLOYEE 
 

Net sales / = Net sales (12 months) 
Employee  Average number of personnel 

 
With this key figure one can assess the productivity of the company’s personnel. 
Comparison between different companies is made difficult, among other reasons, 
by the fact that some companies purchase their labour from outsourced services.  
Average personnel numbers are also not always comparable, and they may 

include laid off employees, for example.  

 

9.3 NET FINANCIAL EXPENSES 
 

Net financial- = Net financial expenses 
⋅ 100 

expenses, %  Total operating income   

Net financial = Financial expenses – financial income 
expenses    

 
Financial expenses = Interest and other financial expenses + foreign exchange 

losses 
 

Financial income = Income from shares and similar rights of ownership  
+ other interest and financial income + foreign 

exchange gains 
 

The key figure receives a negative value when financial income exceeds financial 

expenses. 

 

9.4 NET FINANCIAL EXPENSES / OPERATING MARGIN 
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In addition to the key figures presented above, a company’s financial expense 

structure can also be analysed with the ratio 
 

Net financial expenses / Net financial expenses 
⋅ 100 

operating margin, %  = Operating margin  

 
The ratio helps to evaluate the required operating profit level in relation to the 

company’s financial expense burden. 

 

9.5 AVERAGE FINANCIAL EXPENSES 
 

The average interest paid for liabilities can be analysed with the key figure 
 

Average financial expenses, % = 
Financial expenses (12 months) 

⋅ 100 
Interest-bearing debt on average   

 

 

Financial expenses are defined in the same way as when calculating the key figure 
Return on assets percentage. Included in interest-bearing liabilities are also debts 
that may temporarily be non-interest-bearing. Debts are the average for the 
beginning and the end of the financial year. 

 
The key figure can be compared to the prevailing average interest rate at the time. 
When evaluating it, however, one must take into account, among others, possible 
loan raising fees, guarantee commissions, as well as the seasonal nature of financial 
needs, dates on which credit is taken during the financial year, and the impact of 
currency exchange rate differences. 
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10 EXEMPLARY ANALYSIS 
 

10.1 ANNUAL REPORT 
 

When analysing financial statements, the annual report and the company’s 
financial statements are interpreted as a totality, including the income statement, 
the balance sheet, notes, the auditor’s report as well as possibly the statement in 
changes of financial position. 

 
Key figures presented in the annual report are calculated directly from 

the financial statements, and are not based on adjusted figures. 
 

Model Company Ltd’s annual report presented below is not complete; instead, 
those aspects that are significant in terms of financial statement analysis are 
presented. 

 
MODEL COMPANY LTD 

 
Annual Report of the Board of Directors  
Financial year 1 January – 31 December 20x1 

 
Model Company Ltd’ s net sales amounted to EUR 73,890 in the financial year 
ending 31 December 20x1, and EUR 87,850 in the previous financial year. The 
company’s net sales fell 15.9% as a result of the global downturn, which affected 
demand for the company’s products. 

 
The company’s line of business is manufacturing of construction goods and 

contracting. 
 

Key figures on the company’s financial position and result 
 

EUR 1,000 20x1 20x0 

Net sales 73,790 87,850 
Operating profit 3,320 5,805 
Operating profit -% 4.5 % 6.6 % 
Return on equity - % 5.7 % 11.3 % 
Equity ratio -% 43.9 % 44.1 % 

 

 

Statement of the extent of R&D activity 
 

During the financial year 20x1, Model Company Ltd used EUR 200,000 (in the 
previous year EUR 250,000) on research and development. 0.3% (0.3%) of the 
company’s net sales was used for R&D activity. In development work the focus 
was on improving the energy efficiency of company products. 

 
Assessment of probable future development 
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The company’s management predicts that net sales will grow during the 20x2 
financial year as the general economic situation recovers. Profitability is expected 
to improve as a result of cost cuts implemented during the 20x1 financial year. 

 
Assessment of the most significant operating risks and uncertainty factors 

 
The payment behaviour of customers is continuously monitored. As a result of the 
economic recession, uncertainty around trade receivables grew, as consequently 
did the credit losses recorded by the company. 

 
Company shares 

 
Model Company Ltd’s share capital is EUR 7,500,000 and the nominal value of 
each share is EUR 2. The company has two share series and each share carries 
equal voting rights as well as the right to a dividend and to company assets. 

 
Own shares 

 
Model Company Ltd has purchased own shares worth a total of EUR 185,000 
during the 20x1 financial year. At the end of the financial year, the company holds 
a total of 3,000 own shares. 

 
Related party loans and liabilities 

 
The company has issued a loan to head of sales Matti Meikäläinen. The amount of 
the loan is EUR 110,000 in total. The loan time is 7 years. No interest and no 
instalments are paid on the loan. The loan is unsecured. 

 
Capital loan 

 
The company has a non- interest-bearing capital loan of EUR 1,500,000 that falls 
due in 20xx. Payment of the loan’s principal is subordinate to other debts during 
liquidation and bankruptcy. Interest is only paid when the amount of the 
company’s unrestricted shareholders’ equity and all capital loans at the moment of 
payment exceeds the amount of unrestricted shareholders’ equity stated in the 
balance sheet included in the financial statements from the most recently 
completed financial year or any more recent financial statements. No collateral is 
given for the payment of the principal or interest. If interest cannot be paid, it is 
delayed for payment in the first financial statements on the basis of which it can 
be paid. No unpaid interest has accrued on the loan. 

 
Significant events after the end of the financial year 

 
In March 20x2 the company received a significant order, which is expected to 

positively affect the net sales and profitability of the financial year. 
 

Board of Directors’ proposal for measures concerning company profit 
 

The company’s distributable funds amount to EUR 15,380,000. The Board of 
Directors proposes that of the result for the financial year of EUR 3,210,000, EUR 
1,000,000 will be distributed as dividends and the rest recorded as retained 
earnings. 
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There have been no significant changes to the company’s financial position 
following the end of the financial year. The proposed dividend will not jeopardise 
the company’s solvency. 
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10.2 OFFICIAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

INCOME STATEMENT, EUR 1,000 
 
 
 

NET SALES 
 

Increase (+) / reduction (-) in finished goods  
and work-in-progress 
Production for own use (+) 
Other operating income 

 
Materials and services 
Materials, supplies and goods 
Purchases during the financial period 
Increase (-) / decrease (+) in inventories 
Outsourced services 

 
Personnel expenses 

 
Depreciation according to plan 

 
Other operating expenses  
OPERATING PROFIT 

Financial income and expenses 
 

Income from other investments held as 
non-current assets 
Other interest and financial income 
Interest and other financial expenses  
PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE 
EXTRAORDINARY ITEMS  
RESULT BEFORE CLOSING ENTRIES 
AND TAXES 

 
Closing entries 
Increase (-) / decrease (+) in 
depreciation difference 

 
Income taxes 
PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE 
FINANCIAL PERIOD 

 
 

1 January-31 1 January-31 
December x1 December x0 

73,890 87,850

-1,740 -755
260 700

2,200 1,700

-39,180 -50,500
-160 -265

-5,125 -5,355

-12,880 -14,050

-3,465 -3,420

-10,480 -10,100
3,320 5,805

75 15
115 140

-1,340 -645

2,170 5,315

2,170 5,315

2,035 0

-995 -830

3,210 4,485
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BALANCE SHEET, EUR 1,000  

Assets 
1 January-31 1 January-31 
December x1 December x0 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS   
Intangible assets   

Intangible rights 100 35
Goodwill 765 780
Advances paid 500 90

 1,365 905
Tangible assets   

Land and waters 1,385 1,440
Buildings and constructions 14,415 14,390
Machinery and equipment 7,525 8,250
Other tangible assets 695 630
Advances paid and and unfinished 

1,895 870acquisitions 
 25,915 25,580
Investments   

Shares and similar rights of ownership in 
2,975 1,185group companies 

Shares and similar rights of ownership in 
185 235other companies 

Receivables from group companies 3,810 2,360

 6,970 3,780
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 34,250 30,265
CURRENT ASSETS   
Inventories   

Materials and supplies 1,205 1,365
Work-in-progress 4,190 4,875
Finished products/goods 2,030 2,925
Other inventories 2,050 2,210
Advances paid 940 660

 10,415 12,035
Long-term receivables   

Loan receivables 55 80

 55 80
Short-term receivables   

Trade receivables 4,480 5,420
Receivables from group companies 3,830 2,440
Loan receivables 55 40
Other receivables 1,845 1,690
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 1,215 1,580

  11,425 11,170
Cash in hand and at banks 1,210 1,020
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 23,105 24,305
Total assets 57,355 54,570
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Liabilities 
1 January-31 1 January-31 
December x1 December x0 

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY   
Share or other similar capital 7,500 7,500
Share premium 520 520
Other reserves 
        Reserve for invested unrestricted equity 5,320 5,320
Retained earnings 6,850 3,615
Profit (loss) for the financial period 3,210 4,485

  23,400 21,440
ACCUMULATED CLOSING ENTRIES   

Depreciation difference 2,495 4,530
COMPULSORY PROVISIONS   

Other provisions 410 360

LIABILITIES   
Long-term liabilities   

Capital loans 1,500 2,000
Loans from financial institutions 16,280 9,515
Other liabilities 650 0

  18,430 11,515
Short-term liabilities   

Loans from financial institutions 1,045 1,700
Advances received 4,015 5,930
Trade payables 3,260 4,110
Loans from group companies 785 670
Other liabilities 345 355
Deferred income and accrued expenses 3,170 3,960

  12,620 16,725
TOTAL LIABILITIES 31,050 28,240
Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 57,355 54,570
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NOTES TO THE INCOME STATEMENT, EUR 1,000 
 

  1 January-31 1 January-31 

1 Net sales per market area 
December x1 December x0 

  

 Finland 31,545 42,395
 Rest of Europe 28,740 44,315
 Other countries 13,605 1,140
 

Total 
  

 73,890 87,850

2 Other operating income   
 Rental income 1,400 1,100
 Gains on sales 800 600
 

Total 
  

 2,200 1,700

3 Personnel expenses and average amount of personnel  
 Wages, salaries and -10,220 -11,070
 remunerations 

-1,820 -1,915 Pension expenses 
 Other indirect employee costs -840 -1,065
 

Total 
  

 -12,880 -14,050

 Personnel on average over the financial year  
 Managerial employees 145 160
 Employees 190 205

4 Depreciations   
 Goodwill -280 -255
 Intangible rights -40 -20
 Buildings and constructions -865 -850
 Machinery and equipment -2,025 -2,125
 Other tangible assets -255 -170
 

Total 
  

 -3,465 -3,420

5 Financial income and expenses   
 Dividend income from other 75 15
 companies 

115 140 Interest income 
 

Total 
  

 190 155

 Interest expenses -840 -615
 Other financial expenses -30 -25
 Foreign exchange losses -470 -5
 

Total 
  

 -1,340 -645
 



 
87 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

NOTES TO THE BALANCE SHEET, EUR 1,000  
Assets 1 January-31 1 January-31 

6 Intangible and tangible assets 
December x1 December x0 

  

Goodwill   
Acquisition cost 1 January 3,720 2,935
Additions 265 295
Reductions -420 -
Transfers between items - 490
Acquisition cost 31 December 3,565 3,720

Accumulated depreciation 1 -2,940 -2,685
January   
Accumulated depreciations of 420 -
reductions   
Depreciation in the financial year -280 -255
Accumulated depreciation 31 -2,800 -2,940
December   
Book value 31 December 765 780

Intangible rights   
Acquisition cost 1 January 2,050 2,050
Additions 106 -
Reductions -6 -
Acquisition cost 31 December 2,150 2,050

Accumulated depreciation 1 -2,015 -1,995
January   
Accumulated depreciations of 5 -
reductions   
Depreciation in the financial year -40 -20
Accumulated depreciation 31 -2,050 -2,015
December   
Book value 31 December 100 35

Land and waters   
Acquisition cost 1 January 1,425 1,365
Additions 15 70
Reductions -70 -10
Acquisition cost 31 December 1,370 1,425

 
Accumulated depreciation 1 - -
January   
Accumulated depreciations of - -
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reductions   
Depreciation in the financial year - -
Accumulated depreciation 31 - -
December   

Revaluations 115 115
Value reductions -100 -100
Book value 31 December 1,385 1,440

Buildings and constructions   
Acquisition cost 1 January 21,325 20,490
Additions 270 625
Reductions -885 -25
Transfers between items 820 235
Acquisition cost 31 December 21,530 21,325

Accumulated depreciation 1 -9,750 -8,900
January   
Accumulated depreciations of 685 -
reductions   
Depreciation in the financial year -865 -850
Accumulated depreciation 31 -9,930 -9,750
December   

Revaluation 2,930 2,930
Value reductions -115 -115
Book value 31 December 14,415 14,390

Machinery and equipment   
Acquisition cost 1 January 28,435 27,945
Additions 1,295 315
Reductions -680 -115
Transfers between items 105 290
Acquisition cost 31 December 29,155 28,435

Accumulated depreciation 1 -20,185 -18,350 
January   
Accumulated depreciations of 580 290
reductions   
Depreciation in the financial year -2,025 -2,125
Accumulated depreciation 31 -21,630 -20,185
December   
Book value 31 December 7,525 8,250

Other tangible assets   
Acquisition cost 1 January 4,180 3,960
Additions 320 185
Reductions -10 -
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Transfers between items - 35
Acquisition cost 31 December 4,490 4,180

Accumulated depreciation 1 -3,550 -3,380
January   
Accumulated depreciations of 10 -
reductions   
Depreciation in the financial year -255 -170
Accumulated depreciation 31 -3,795 -3,550
December   
Book value 31 December 695 630

7 Receivables from group companies   
Trade receivables 1,800 2,400
Other receivables 2,030 40

Total 3,830 2,440

8 Prepaid expenses and accrued income   
Most important prepaid expenses and   
accrued income   

Advances received VAT 450 590
VAT receivable 250 900
Percentage of completion 290 0
receivables   

 
 

 
Liabilities 1 January-31 1 January-31 

9 Shareholders’ equity 
December x1 December x0 

  
Share capital 1 January 7,500 7,500
Share capital 31 December 7,500 7,500
Share premium account 1 January 520 520
Share premium account 31 520 520
December   
Reserve for invested unrestricted 5,320 5,320
shareholders’ equity 1 January   
Reserve for invested unrestricted 5,320 5,320
shareholders’ equity 31 December   
Retained earnings 1 January 8,100 3,615
Dividend distribution -1,065 -
Own shares 1 January - -
Purchased own shares -185 -
Own shares 31 December -185 -
Profit for the financial year 3,210 4,485

 Total shareholders’ equity  23,400 21,440
Distributable funds 15,380 13,420
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10 Compulsory provisions   
 Other provisions 410 360

11 Long-term liabilities   
 Debts that fall due in five years or more time   
 Loans from financial institutions 4,530 2,970

12 Short-term liabilities   
 Amounts owed to group companies   
 Trade payables 585 455
 Other liabilities  200 215
 Total 785 670

13 Collateral and statements of liability   
 Leasing agreements   
 to be paid during the next financial 250 280
 year   
 to be paid later  600 410
 Total 850 690

 
 

 

NOTES 
 

200 of goodwill is comprised of a company acquisition. When completing the 
analysis, it is known that the acquired company has produced a loss over several 
years and the company’s shareholders’ equity is negative. 

 
The auditor has remarked in his auditor’s report on downgraded account receivable 

400. 
 

In the auditor’s report for the financial year 20x1, the auditor has remarked on an 
unsecured loan receivable from related parties totalling 110. The receivable is not 
linked to the company’s business. 

 
Repayments of long-term loans during the 20x1 financial year: 1,200. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
91 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

10.3 ADJUSTED INCOME STATEMENT; EUR 1,000 
 

 
  1 Jan -1 Jan - 
  31 Dec x1 31 Dec x0 
  12 months 12 months 

NET SALES  73,890 87,850

Other operating income 1) 1,400 1,100

Total operating income  75,290 88,950

Materials and supplies used 2) -39,340 -50,765
Outsourced services  -5,125 -5,355
Personnel expenses  -12,880 -14,050
Other operating expenses  -10,480 -10,100
Change in stock of finished goods and work-in-    
progress 3) -1,480 -55

OPERATING MARGIN (EBITDA)  5,985 8,625

Depreciation according to plan  -3,465 -3,420

OPERATING RESULT (EBIT)  2,520 5,205
Income from shares and other investments  75 15
Other interest and financial income  115 140
Interest and other financial expenses 4) -870 -640
Foreign exchange gains or losses 4) -470 -5
Direct taxes 5) -835 -710

NET RESULT  535 4,005
Extraordinary income 1) 800 600
Extraordinary expenses 5) -160 -120

TOTAL RESULT  1,175 4,485

Change in depreciation difference  2,035 0

RESULT FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD  3,210 4,485
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ADJUSTMENTS TO THE INCOME STATEMENT 
 

1) Gains on sales (800 and 600) are transferred to extraordinary income (note 
2) 

2) Purchases are corrected with a change in materials and supplies (-160 and 
265)  

3) Change in stock of finished goods and work-in-progress (-1,740 and -755) 
is transferred from the upper part of the income statement downwards and 
to the sum is added production for own use (260 and 700)  

4) Foreign exchange losses (-470 and -5) are transferred away from 
interest and other financial expenses (note 5)  

5) Tax on extraordinary income is transferred from taxes to extraordinary 
expenses (800 ⋅ 20% and 600 ⋅ 20%) because gain on sales is transferred 
from other operating income to extraordinary income. 
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10.4 ADJUSTED BALANCE SHEET, EUR 1,000 
 

Assets 
 
1 January- 
31 December x1 

 
1 January- 
31 
December  
x0 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS    
Intangible assets    
Goodwill 6) 565 580
Other intangible assets  600 125
Total intangible assets  1,165 705

Tangible assets    
Land and waters  1,385 1,440
Buildings and constructions  14,415 14,390
Machinery and equipment  7,525 8,250
Other tangible assets 17) 2,590 1,500
Total tangible assets  25,915 25,580

Investments    
Internal shares and similar rights of  2,975 1,185
ownership    
Other shares and similar rights of  185 235
ownership    
Internal receivables  3,810 2,360
Other investments and receivables 7) + 8) 0 10
Total investments and long-term  6,970 3,790
receivables    

Leasing assets 9) 850 690

CURRENT ASSETS    
Inventories    
Materials and supplies  1,205 1,365
Work-in-progress  4,190 4,875
Finished goods  2,030 2,925
Other inventories 18) 2,990 2,870
Total inventories  10,415 12,035

Trade receivables 10) 4,080 5,420
Internal trade receivables 11) 1,800 2,400
Other receivables 8) 5,090 3,310
Total short-term receivables  10,970 11,130

Cash and financial securities  1,210 1,020
Total assets  57,495 54,950
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  1 Jan- 1 Jan- 
Liabilities  31 Dec x1 31 Dec x0 
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY    
Share capital  7,500 7,500 
Share premium  520 520 
Other reserves  5,320 5,320 
Retained earnings  6,850 3,615 
Result for the financial period  3,210 4,485 
Total shareholder’s equity on the    
balance sheet  23,400 21,440 
Depreciation difference 12) 1,996 3,624 
   - 
Adjustments to shareholders’ equity 6 + 8 + 10) -710 310 
Total adjusted total shareholders’    

equity  24,686 24,754 

LIABILITIES    
Capital loans  1,500 2,000 
Loans from financial institutions  16,280 9,515 
Other long-term liabilities  650 0 
Total long-term liabilities  18,430 11,515 

Deferred tax liabilities 13) 499 906 

Compulsory provisions  410 360 

Leasing liabilities 9) 850 690 

Short-term interest-bearing liabilities  1,045 1,700 
Advances received  4,015 5,930 
Trade payables 

14) 
3,260 4,110 

Internal trade payables 585 455 
Other short-term non-interest-bearing 

15) 
  

liabilities 3,715 4,530 
Total short-term liabilities  12,620 16,725 

Total liabilities  57,495 54,950 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 
95 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

ADJUSTMENTS TO THE BALANCE SHEET 
 

6) Goodwill without any value (200) is removed from non-current assets and 
recorded as a reduction of shareholders’ equity  

7) Long-term loan receivables in current assets are transferred to the item 
other receivables in non-current assets (55 and 80) 

8) Unsecured loan receivable that does not belong to the business (110) is 
subtracted from short-term receivables (55 and 40) and from the item other 
receivables in non-current assets (55 and 70) and recorded as a reduction of 
shareholders’ equity (110).  

9) Leasing commitments are added to both sides of the balance sheet as 
leasing assets and leasing liabilities (note 13) 

10) Non-marketable trade receivables (400) are subtracted from trade 
receivables and recorded as a reduction of shareholders’ equity 

11) Trade receivables from group companies are transferred to internal trade 
receivables (note 7)  

12) Deferred tax liabilities with the tax rate 20% are subtracted from the 
depreciation difference 

13) Deferred tax liabilities with the tax rate 20% are transferred from the 
depreciation difference to its own line  

14) Trade payables to group companies are transferred to internal trade 
payables (note 12)  

15) Other liabilities, deferred income and accrued expenses and other loans 
from group companies are combined in other short-term non-interest-
bearing liabilities (note 12)  

16) Intangible rights and advances paid are combined in other intangible assets  
17) Advances paid and unfinished acquisitions are combined in other tangible 

assets  
18) Items other inventories and advances paid are combined in other 

inventories 
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
 

 1 January- 31 December x1 
 OPERATING PROFIT AFTER DEPRECIATION 2,520 
+ Depreciation and reductions in value 3,465
= OPERATING PROFIT 5,985 
-/+ Inc./Dec. in operating working capital -2,070
+/- Inc./Dec. in provisions 50
= NET OPERATING CASH FLOW 3,965 
+ Financial income 190
- Financial expenses -1,340 
- Direct taxes -835
+/- Extraordinary income/expenses 640 
= CASH FLOW AFTER FINANCING ACTIVITIES 2,620 
-/+ Investments (net) -4,260 
-/+ Inc./Dec. in investments and long-term receivables -3,190
= CASH FLOW AFTER INVESTMENTS -4,830 
+/- Inc./Dec. in long-term liabilities 7,415
+/- Inc./Dec. in short-term interest-bearing liabilities -655
+/- Inc./Dec. in capital loans -500
+/- Chargeable inc./dec. in shareholders’ equity (excluding -185

 dividend distribution)  
- Dividend distribution/private use -1,065 
-/+ Inc./Dec. in loan receivables 10
= CHANGE IN LIQUID ASSETS 190 
+ Liquid assets at the beginning of the financial period 1,020
- Liquid assets at the end of the financial period -1,210
=  0 
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The increase/decrease in operating working capital is calculated as follows: 
 
 
 

+ Inventories at the beginning 12,035 
- Inventories at the end -10,415 
+ Total short-term receivables at the beginning 11,130 
- Total short-term receivables at the end -11,370 
+ Long-term trade receivables at the beginning - 
- Long-term trade receivables at the end - 
- Short-term non-interest-bearing loans at the beginning -15,025 
+ Short-term non-interest-bearing loans at the end 11,575 
- Long-term trade payables at the beginning - 
+ Long-term trade payables at the end - 
- Long-term advances received at the beginning - 
+ Long-term advances received at the end - 

= Change in operating working capital -2,070 

 

10.5 KEY RATIOS 

 

KEY PROFITABILITY 

RATIOS Structure of the result 
 

Operating margin -%  
Operating margin   
Total operating income 

 
Operating result-%  

Operating result   
Total operating income 

 
Net result-%  

Net result   
Total operating income 

 
Financial result-%  

Net result + depreciation   
Total operating income 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

⋅ 100 =
5,985 ⋅ 100 
75,290    

⋅ 100 =
2,520 ⋅ 100 
75,290    

⋅ 100 =
535 ⋅ 100 
75,290    

 
 

⋅ 100 = (535 + 3,465) 
⋅ 100 75,290  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
= 7.9 % 
 
 
 
 
= 3.3 % 
 
 
 
 
= 0.7 % 
 
 

 
= 5.3 % 
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Return on capital 
 

Return on assets (ROA) -% 
 

Net result + financial expenses + taxes (12 months)  
Total adjusted balance sheet on average during the ⋅ 100 

financial period 
 
 
 

Adjusted balance sheet on    
average = 57,495+54,950 = 56,223

  2  
 

Financial expenses = Interest expenses and other financial expenses + foreign 

exchange losses 
 
 

 

Return on assets -% = 535+870+470+835 ⋅ 100 = 4.8 %

 56,223   
 

 

Return on investment (ROI) -% 
 

 Net result + financial expenses + taxes (12 months) 
⋅ 100  

Average invested capital for the financial period 
 

   

Average invested capital 
= 

 
24,686 + 18,430 + 1,045 + 24,757 + 11,515 + 
1,700 

for the financial period 2 
   

    

  = 41,065    

Return on investment -% 
=

 2,710  
⋅ 100 = 6.6 %   

41,065 
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Return on equity (ROE) -% 
 

Net result (12 months)        

⋅ 100 Adjusted average shareholders’ equity for the financial period 

Adjusted average shareholders’ = 24,686 + 24,754 = 24,720

equity    2    

Return on equity-% = 583   ⋅ 100 = 2.2 %  
    

 24,720       
 

KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS 
 

Capital structure 
 

Equity ratio, % 
 

Adjusted shareholders’ equity 
⋅ 100 = 

Total adjusted balance sheet – advances received  

24,686 
⋅ 100 = 46.2 % 

 
57,495 - 4,015 

 
  

 
 

Relative indebtness, % 
 

Adjusted balance sheet’s liabilities –  
advances received ⋅ 100 = Net sales (12 months)  

 

 

18,430 + 649 + 410 + 850 + 12,620 - 4,015 ⋅ 100 =   49.9 % 

73,890  
 

Net debt ratio, %    

 Adjusted balance sheet’s liabilities – advances received –   
 cash and financial securities   ⋅ 100 = 
 Net sales (12 months)    

 18,430 + 649 + 410 + 850 + 12,620 - 4,015 - 1,210 ⋅ 100 = 49.9 %

73,890    

    



 
100 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

Net gearing (net debt ratio) 
 

   Interest-bearing liabilities – cash and financial    
  securities     =  
  Adjusted shareholders’ equity      

 18,430 + 1,045 - 1,210  
= 0.74 

   
24,686 

    

       

Working capital and its collection period    

  Working capital is calculated as follows:      
   Inventories       10,415
   + Trade receivables       4,080
   + Internal trade receivables       1,800
   + Receivables booked according to percentage of completion method 290
   - Trade payables       -3,260
   - Internal trade payables       -585
   - Advances received       -4,015

   = Working capital       8,725

Working capital-%        

  Working capital 
⋅ 100 = 

 8,725 
⋅ 100 = 11.8 % 

 
  

Net sales (12 months) 73,890 
 

       

 
Collection period of trade receivables, days 

 
 365 ⋅ (Trade receivables + internal trade receivables) =
 Net sales (12 months)    

 365 ⋅ (4,080 + 1,800) 
= 29.0 days 

 
73,890 

 

   

 
Inventories/net sales, % 

 
Inventories without advances paid + Receivables booked according to  

percentage of completion method   ⋅ 100 = 

Net sales (12 months)     

 10,415 - 940 + 290 
⋅ 100 = 13.2 % 

 
73,890 
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Payment period of trade payables, days 
 

  365 ⋅ (Trade payables + internal trade payables) 
=   Purchases + outsourced services (12 months)    

   365 ⋅ (3,260 + 585) 
= 31.7 days 

(39,180 + 5,125)    

Net working capital    

  Net working capital is calculated as follows:  
   + Inventories  10,415  
   + Financial assets  12,180  
   - Total short-term liabilities  -12,620  
   = Net working capital  9,975  

 
Financial assets = Total short-term receivables + cash and financial securities 

= 10,970 + 1,210 = 12,180 
 
 

Net working capital-% 
 

Net working capital 
⋅ 100 = 

9,975 

Net sales (12 months) 73,890   
 
 

 

Financial adequacy 
 

Quick ratio 
 

Financial assets – receivables booked  
according to percentage of completion method 

Total short-term liabilities – advances received 

 
 
 
 
 

⋅ 100 = 13.5% 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

=   12,180 – 290 = 1.4
 12,620 – 4,015  

 
Current ratio 

 
Inventories + financial assets 

= 
10,415 +12,180 

= 1.8
Total short-term liabilities 12,620   

 
Financial result (EBDA) 

 
Net result + depreciation = 535 + 3,465 = 4,000 
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Repayment period of debt, years 
 

Invested liabilities at the end of the financial year   
Financial result (12 months) 

 

= 
18,430 + 1,045 

= 4.9 years 
4,000    

 
Debt service coverage ratio 

 
 Financial result + financial expenses  

= 
 

 Financial expenses + instalments on long-term loans  
   

 4,000 + 870 + 470 
= 1.8 

   
870 + 470 + 1,700    

Interest-bearing debt/operating margin (EBITDA)   

 Adjusted balance sheet’s interest-bearing debt + capital loans 
=  Operating margin (12 months)   

     

 18,430 + 1,045 
= 3.3 

   
5,985    

      

Financial expenses coverage ratio    

  Financial result + financial expenses 
= 

  
 Financial expenses      
       

 4,000 + 870 + 470  
= 4.0 

   
1,340     

      

 
Interest coverage 

 
Operating margin + dividend income + interest income  
+ other financial income = Financial expenses  

 

 

5,985 + 75 + 115 
= 4.6

(870 + 470)   
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Financing of investments, % 
 

Cash flow after financing activities ⋅ 100 =  
Investment in non-current assets + investments in  
shares and similar rights of ownership  
and in other non-current receivables (net) 

 

2,620 
⋅ 100 = 35.2 %

4,260 + 3,190    

 
 

 

OTHER RATIOS 
 

Change in net sales, % 
 

 Net sales (12 months) – Net sales of the previous financial period (12 months) 
⋅ 100 =  Net sales of the previous financial period (12 months)  

   

 73,890 – 87,850   
⋅ 100 = -15.9 % 

  
87,850     

         

Net sales/employee          

 Net sales (12 months)   
= 

 73,890 
= 220.6 

 
 Average number of personnel 335  

Net financial expenses, %      

 Net financial expenses    
⋅ 100 = 

  
  Total operating income    
       

 870 + 470 - 75 -115   
⋅ 100 = 1.5 % 

  
75,290      

         

Net financial expenses/operating margin, %   

 Net financial expenses    
⋅ 100 = 

  
  Operating margin      
         

 1,150 
⋅ 100 = 19.2 % 

   
5,985    
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Average financial expenses, % 
 

Financial expenses (12 months)   
⋅ 100

    
Interest-bearing debt on average      

       

Interest-bearing = 18,430 + 1,045 +11, 515 + 1,700  
= 16,345

debt on average  2       
        

Average financial expenses, % =  1,340 ⋅ 100 = 8.2 % 
    16,345    
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APPENDICES 
 

Appendix 1: Accounting Standards Board’s General Guideline on Depreciation According to 
Plan, 16 October 2007 
 
The following depreciation times are merely examples and are not as such suitable without modification as 
guideline depreciation times for the acquisition costs of tangible and intangible assets in non-current assets for 
the company obliged to keep accounting records. Depreciation time is affected by both the line of business and 
the individual circumstances of the company obliged to keep accounting records. Depreciation time may be 
affected by the depreciation method applied (straight-line, degressive or other form of depreciation). 

 
The year amounts presented below should not be seen as absolute minimum or maximum times, rather they 
represent the Accounting Standards Board’s understanding of generally applied depreciation times. The table 
below presents also the maximum depreciation times for intangible assets permitted by the Accounting Act, 
as well as the depreciation percentages corresponding to the year amounts presented for machinery and 
equipment. 

 
Intangible assets   Maximum 
   depreciation time 
   permitted by the 

Development expenses 2 – 5 years 

Accounting Act 
(Jan 1, 2016) 
10 years*) 

Intangible rights 5 – 20 years Useful life 

Goodwill 2 – 5 years 10 years*) 
Other capitalised long-term expenses 2 – 5 years 10 years*) 
(e.g. computer software)    

   Depreciation from 

Tangible assets 
  book value 
  corresponding to 

   straight-line 

Land and waters no depreciation time 
depreciation-%**) 

 

Buildings and constructions    
Industrial and office buildings 20 – 40 years  
Light warehouses and structures 10 – 20 years  
Residential buildings 30 – 50 years  

Machinery and equipment    
Heavy machinery 10 – 15 years 15 – 20 
Light machinery 5 – 10 years 20 – 40 
Transportation vehicles 4 – 7 years 30 – 45 
Computer hardware 3 – 5 years 40 – 55 
Other tangible assets 5 – 20 years  
Construction-in-progress no depreciation time  

Investments no depreciation time  
 

*) If the reporting entity is unable to estimate useful life in a reliable manner, the maximum deprecation 
time is 10 years 
**) the depreciation percentage with which around 90% of original acquisition costs should 
be depreciated within the presented depreciation times 
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Appendix 2: Condensed & numbered aid version of the income statement 
 

Official financial statements  
INCOME STATEMENT  
 
1 NET SALES 
2 Increase (+) / decrease (-) in inventories of finished 
goods and work-in-progress 
3 Production for own use 
4 Other operating income 

 
Materials and services 

Materials, supplies and goods 
5 Purchases during the financial period 
6 Increase (-)/decrease (+) in inventories  

7 Outsourced services 
Personnel expenses 

8 Wages and salaries 
Social security expenses 

9 Pension expenses 
10 Social security expenses  

Depreciation and reductions in value  
11 Depreciation according to plan 
12 Reductions in value of goods 

held as non-current assets 
13 Exceptional reductions in 

value of current assets  
14 Other operating expenses 

 
OPERATING PROFIT (-LOSS) 

 
Financial income and expenses 

15 Income from group companies 
16 Income from participating interest companies 
17 Income from other investments held as non-current 
assets 
18 Other interest and financial income 
19 Reductions in value of investments held as non-current 
assets 
20 Reductions in value of investments held as current 
assets 
21 Interest and other financial expenses 

 
PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE CLOSING ENTRIES AND 
TAXES 

 
Closing entries 

22 Increase (-) / decrease (+) in depreciation difference 
23 Increase (-) / decrease (+) in taxation-based reserves 
24 Group contribution 

 
25 Income taxes 
26 Other direct taxes 

 
PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD 

 
Financial statement analysis 
 
 
 

 
1 NET SALES 
4 Other operating income  
TOTAL OPERATING INCOME 

5 6 Materials and supplies used 
7 Outsourced services 
8 9 10 Personnel expenses  
Adjustment to entrepreneur’s salary  
14 Other operating expenses  
2 3 Change in stock of finished goods 

 
OPERATING MARGIN (EBITDA) 

 
11 Depreciation according to plan 
12 Reductions in value of goods held as non-
current assets 
13 Exceptional reductions in value of current 
assets 

 
OPERATING RESULT (EBIT) 
 

15 16 17 Income from shares and similar 
rights of ownership 
18 Other interest and financial income 
21 Interest and other financial expenses 
18 21 Foreign exchange gains or losses 
19 20 Reductions in value of investments 
25 26 Income taxes and other direct taxes 

 
NET RESULT 
 

4 25 26 Extraordinary income 
14 25 26 Extraordinary expenses 
24 Group contribution 

 
TOTAL RESULT 
 
22 Increase (-) / decrease (+) in depreciation difference 
23 Increase (-) / decrease (+) in voluntary provisions 
Adjustment to entrepreneur’s salary 
Changes in fair value  
Other adjustments to profit 
 
RESULT FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD 

 

 



 
107 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

Appendix 3: Condensed and numbered aid version of the balance sheet 
 

BALANCE SHEET  
NON-CURRENT ASSETS 
Intangible assets 
19 Development expenses 
19 Intangible rights 
19 Goodwill 
19 Other capitalised long-term expenses 
19 Advances paid  
Tangible assets 
20 Land and waters 
21 Buildings and constructions 
22 Machinery and equipment 
23 Other tangible assets  
23 Advances paid and unfinished acquisitions  
Investments 
24 Shares and similar rights of ownership in group 
companies 
25 Receivables from group companies 
24 Shares and similar rights of ownership in participating 
interest companies 
25 Receivables from participating interest companies 
26 Other shares and similar rights of ownership 
27 Other receivables  
CURRENT ASSETS  
Inventories 
28 Materials and supplies 
29 Work-in-progress 
30 Finished goods/Inventories 
31 Other inventories  
31 Advances paid 

 
Receivables 
Long-term 
27 Trade receivables 
25 Receivables from group companies 
25 Receivables from participating interest companies 
27 Deferred tax receivables 
27 Loan receivables 
27 Other receivables 
27 Unpaid shares and similar rights of ownership 
27 Prepaid expenses and accrued income 
Short-term 
32 Trade receivables 
33 Receivables from group companies 
33 Receivables from participating interest companies 
34 Loan receivables 
34 Other receivables 
34 Deferred tax receivables 
34 Unpaid shares and similar rights of ownership 
34 Prepaid expenses and accrued income 
Financial assets 
35 Shares and similar rights of 
ownership in group companies  

35 Own shares and similar rights of ownership 
 

35 Other shares and similar rights of ownership 
 

35 Other securities 
35 Cash in hand and at banks 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
NON-CURRENT 
ASSETS 19 Development 
expenses 19 Goodwill 
19 Other intangible assets  
Total intangible assets 
 
20 Land and waters 
21 Buildings and constructions 
22 Machinery and equipment 
23 Other tangible assets 
Total tangible assets 
 
24 Internal shares and similar rights of 
ownership 
26 Other shares and similar rights of 
ownership 
25 Internal receivables 
27 Other investments and receivables  
Total investments and long-
term receivables 
 
Leasing assets 
 
CURRENT ASSETS 
28 Materials and supplies 
29 Work-in-progress 
30 Finished goods 
31 Other inventories 
Total inventories 
 
32 Trade receivables 
33 Internal trade receivables 
33 Other internal receivables 
34 Other receivables  
Total short-term receivables 35 

Cash and financial securities 

TOTAL ASSETS 
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SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
36 Share or other similar capital 
37 Share premium 
37 Revaluation reserve 
38 Fair value reserve 
38 Other funds 
38 Reserve fund 
38 Funds stipulated in the articles of association or rules 
38 Other funds 
38 Retained earnings (losses) 
38 Profit (loss) for the financial year 

 
ACCUMULATED CLOSING ENTRIES 
40 Depreciation difference  
40 Voluntary provisions 

 
COMPULSORY PROVISIONS 
41 Provisions for pensions 
41 Provisions for taxation 
41 Other compulsory provisions 

 
LIABILITIES  
Long-term 
42 Bonds 
42 Convertible bonds 
39 Capital loans 
42 Loans from financial institutions 
43 Loans from pension institutions 
44 Advances received 
43 Trade payables 
43 Bills of exchange payable 
45 Loans from group companies 
45 Loans from participating interest companies 
43 Deferred tax liabilities 
43 Other liabilities 
43 Deferred income and accrued expenses 
Short-term 
46 Bonds 
46 Convertible bonds 
39 Capital loans 
46 Loans from financial institutions 
46 Loans from pension institutions 
47 Advances received 
48 Trade payables 
46 Bills of exchange payable 
49 Loans from group companies 
49 Loans from participating interest companies 
50 Deferred tax liabilities 
50 Other liabilities  
51 Deferred income and accrued expenses 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
36 Share capital 
37 Share premium and revaluation reserve 
38 Fair value reserve 
38 Other shareholders’ equity 
39 Capital loans 
Total shareholder’s equity 
40 Total depreciation difference and 
voluntary provisions  
19 24 25 26 27 33 34 Adjustments to 
shareholders’ equity  
Total adjusted shareholders’ equity 
 
LIABILITIES 
39 Capital loans 
42 Loans from financial institutions 
43 Loans from pension institutions 
45 Internal liabilities 
44 45 Advances received 
43 Other long-term liabilities 
Total long-term liabilities 
 
40 Deferred tax liabilities 
41 Compulsory provisions 
 
Leasing liabilities 
 
46 50 Short-term interest-bearing liabilities 
47 49 Advances received 
48 Trade payables 
49 Internal trade payables 
49 Other internal non-interest-bearing 
loans  
49 Other internal interest-bearing liabilities 
50 51 Other shot-term non-interest-bearing 
liabilities  
Total short-term liabilities 
 
Total adjusted liabilities 
 
TOTAL LIABILITIES 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 


